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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors of Wan Leader International Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”). The directors of the Company (the
“Directors”), having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief (i)
the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive; and (ii) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
QN AER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Pangfei (retired on 23 September 2024)

Ms. Wu Yushan (retired on 23 September 2024)
Mr. Yan Ximao (resigned on 30 December 2024)

Ms. Qu Tianyun

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Shiu Tong Andrew (appointed on 30 December 2024)

Mr. Yau Tung Shing (appointed on 30 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (resigned on 30 December 2024)

Mr. Chow Chi Wing
Mr. Liao Donggiang (resigned on 22 August 2024)

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (appointed on 22 August 2024 and
retired on 23 September 2024)

Mr. Tam Chi Ming George (appointed on 9 October 2024)

Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent (appointed on 9 October 2024)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Liao Daichun

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
(for the purpose of the GEM Listing Rules)

Mr. Zhang Pangfei (retired on 23 September 2024)
Mr. Wong Kok Hon

Mr. Yam Ximao (appointed on 24 September 2024 and
resigned on 30 December 2024)

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (appointed on 30 December 2024)
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Corporate Information (Continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Wong Kok Hon

BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

Mr. Tam Chi Ming George (Chairman) (appointed on 9 October
2024 and appointed as chairman on 30 December 2024)

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (Chairman) (resigned on 30 December
2024)

Mr. Chow Chi Wing

Mr. Liao Donggiang (resigned on 22 August 2024)

Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent (appointed on 9 October 2024)

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent (Chairman) (appointed on 9 October
2024)

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (Chairman) (appointed on 22 August 2024
and retired on 23 September 2024)

Mr. Liao Donggiang (Chairman) (resigned on 22 August 2024)

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (resigned on 30 December 2024)

Mr. Chow Chi Wing
Mr. Tam Chi Ming George (appointed on 9 October 2024)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Chairman)

Mr. Chow Chi Wing

Mr. Liao Donggiang (resigned on 22 August 2024)

Mr. Tam Chi Ming George (appointed on 9 October 2024)

Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent (appointed on 9 October 2024)
Ms. Qu Tianyun (appointed on 26 June 2025)
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Corporate Information (Continued)

[NREF (FE)

AUDITOR

SFAI (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISERS

as to Hong Kong Laws
Khoo & Co.

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hang Seng Bank Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

P.O. Box 31119,

Grand Pavilion,

Hibiscus Way,

802 West Bay Road,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205,
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTER AND PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Office Tower Unit 903,

Hutchison Logistics Centre, Terminal 4,
Kwai Chung Container Port,

18 Container Port Road South,

Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Vistra (Cayman) Limited
P.O. Box 31119,

Grand Pavilion,

Hibiscus Way,

802 West Bay Road,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1205,
Cayman Islands
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.wanleader.com

STOCK CODE

8482
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | hereby present
the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The post-pandemic economic recovery has been slower than
anticipated, while geopolitical tensions continue to escalate and
spread. Persistent Sino-US tensions, coupled with the introduction
of new US trade tariff policies, have further compounded
uncertainties in China and global economic rebound. These
challenges have not only disrupted worldwide supply chains
but have also significantly impacted our Group’s core logistics
business and operations.

While uncertainties and challenges remain, China’s foreign trade
volume continues to demonstrate resilient growth. This positive
trend is expected to support gradual regional economic recovery
and help counterbalance current headwinds. The Board will
maintain a prudent yet confident outlook on the Group’s future
development. The Group remains committed to a conservative
operational approach to navigate market uncertainties. By
capitalizing on our core logistics expertise, we will strategically
diversify our business segments, broadening our revenue base
and driving sustainable value creation for our shareholders and
investors.

I, on behalf of the Board and the management team, would like
to take this opportunity to extend my sincere appreciation to our
investors, customers, suppliers, subcontractors and bankers for
their continuous support and trust placed in the Group; and to
thank my fellow directors for their concerted effort and advice
throughout the year. We treasure the effort from the Group’s
management team and the unwavering commitment of our staff
and please allow me to express my sincere appreciation to our
management team and staff for their dedication and commitment.

Loy Hak Yu Thomas
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025

6 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2024 — 2025

BN R

AANBREZEFES((EFE)) 2IAKH
BHE-_T_RAF=A=1+—HILFENF

% -

REERNKBERDENES RS it
BEARBRRBRERFENBI KRB - X
ERHBEZER MEXRABELTHNESH
BB - SR E &2 IREERENTHE
EME—FTNE - ZFUETERE T2
R EE - THERENZOYRESRE
BERERTE -

BEIEEAZRIENAFE  RHEE
INBBEFEMRBEELIDERK - ZMLEF
BEEHAXBESHREEHEER AIF
PREBENNTANER EFEHHX
SENARERFAFEEARBELONR
2-AKEDNRABERRTHEETANE
HMEHTHEET - BBEa MRS
MREE - AT A B M R B I R T
#BPIZ et - TR R IR PT RO W A B BE Ko
SEMNBERARKREEHES A FHENE
BRI

AANBERREZSLREEERK  HBhne
AARBKREE XF HEB 288
RRTHASENFEIFREEBAR
DR UEMEUEERAFELRF
MHENE I RELONZZ - RPAPRAE
EEREENMNENE N UREMET
BREMBOAG  AHARARMANEEHE
BRETIHNEMERARTHROHE

FE
ARE

EE —E-_RFEANA=1H

m"



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTRODUCTION

Wan Leader International Limited is a company which provides
logistics services to customers mostly located in Hong Kong,
the PRC, Taiwan and Vietnam with cargo destinations covering
USA, Europe, Asia and other regions. It also provides entrusted
management services in the PRC and trading of fashion items.
The shares (the “Shares”) of the Company are listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The services of the Group mainly include (a) the provision of
freight forwarding and related logistics services, which include
reselling cargo space the Group purchases from airlines, airlines’
general sales agent(s), shipping liners and other freight forwarders
to direct shippers or respective freight forwarders, which act on
behalf of their shipper customers and eventually deliver the goods
to the destinations; (b) the provision of entrusted management
services for operating an online e-commerce platform; and (c)
trading of fashion items.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Based on the information from the General Administration of
Customs of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), the total
import and export trade volume in the PRC reached approximately
RMB43.85 trillion in 2024, representing a year-on-year growth
of 5%; whereas the total export trade volume broke the previous
record of RMB25 trillion, reaching approximately RMB25.45 trillion
for the first time, representing a year-on-year growth of 7.1%. This
marks a new record high in terms of trade scale and the PRC has
demonstrated strong and comprehensive competitiveness of its
foreign trade.

However, the uncertainty of global economic recovery, geopolitical
risks and U.S. trade tariff policies may have significant impacts
on China’s imports and exports in 2025. In addition, the ongoing
trade war between the United States of America and the PRC has
created significant disruptions in global trade, with far-fetching
implications for the freight forwarding sector. The Group will
remain cautious and vigilant towards its business and development
in the upcoming year, with our management to monitor the
above-mentioned factors and to better position ourself to minimise
our risk exposures and to seize any opportunities ahead.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEER W R (F)

Reiterating that the economic recovery has fallen short of
expectations, the increasing instability of geopolitical factors,
shifts in consumer market patterns, and changes in consumer
purchasing intent have significantly impacted the development
of our trading of fashion items in high-end consumer goods
business. Due to the high level of uncertainty in the premium
consumer goods market, the company decided at the end of
2024 to allocate the majority of its resources to its core logistics
operations. As a result, the company anticipates a subsequent
decline in the performance of our trading of fashion items
segment. The Company will continue to closely monitor various
influencing factors and market changes to implement tailored
business strategies in response to market challenges.

At the same time, our management team will continue
to consolidate our advantages in existing transportation,
warehousing, convenient customs clearance, and customised
services to actively adapt to our customers’ logistics needs.
Furthermore, with ever-heightening geopolitical tensions such
as the Red Sea Crisis disrupting Suez Canal transits and the
Iran-Israel Tensions, oil price volatility is likely to result in higher
shipping costs, our management team would also be studying
for the exploration of alternative supply chain routes and markets
which could also help to expand our customer base.

On the other hand, we would keep looking for other attractive
business(es) in an attempt to diversify its business segments to
reduce the reliance on existing logistics businesses and broaden
its revenue base. The Company will continuously review its
business strategies, improve operational efficiency, and strive for
sustainable growth to create long-term value for shareholders and
investors.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group’s revenue was primarily derived from (i) provision of air
freight forwarding and related logistics services; (ii) provision of
sea freight forwarding and related logistics services; (iii) provision
of entrusted management services for operating an online
e-commerce platform; and (iv) trading of fashion items.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Total revenue of the Group decreased by approximately 15.8%
from approximately HK$187.2 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$157.6 million for the Year. The revenue of the
Group decreased significantly.

Revenue generated from provision of air freight forwarding and
related logistics services for the Year amounted to approximately
HK$156.9 million (Previous Year: approximately HK$170.6 million),
accounting for approximately 99.6% of the Group’s total revenue
(Previous Year: approximately 91.1%). The revenue from this
segment remained the major source of revenue of the Group.

Revenue generated from the provision of sea freight forwarding
and related logistics services for the Year amounted to
approximately HK$0.1 million (Previous Year: approximately
HK$5.0 million), accounting for approximately 0.1% of the Group’s
total revenue (Previous Year: approximately 2.7%). Most of the
Group’s customers from this segment are direct shippers.

Decrease in revenue from air and sea freight forwarding service
with related logistics services decreased significantly due to (i)
drops in demand for cargo spaces because of the worldwide
economic downturn; and (ii) one of the Group major business
operations from this sector temporarily halted since the second
quarter in 2024 due to strategic adjustment but was reactivated
from the first quarter in 2025.

No revenue was generated from the provision of entrusted
management services from operating an online e-commerce
platform for the Review Year as the business operation from this
sector temporarily halted since January 2023 (Previous Year: nil),
not accounting for any of the Group’s total revenue (Previous year:
nil).

Revenue generated from trading of fashion items for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$0.6 million (Previous Year:
approximately HK$11.6 million), accounting for approximately
0.3% of the Group’s total revenue (Previous Year: 6.2%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEER W R (F)

Cost of services and gross profit

The Group’s cost of services decreased by approximately 14.9%
from approximately HK$182.6 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$155.4 million for the Year. This decrease was
mainly due to drops in demand for cargo spaces in the year,
in line with the decrease in revenue from air and sea freight
forwarding service with related logistics services.

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately 52.1%
from approximately HK$4.6 million for the Previous Year to
approximately HK$2.2 million for the Year. Gross profit margin
decreased from approximately 2.5% for the Previous Year to
approximately 1.4% for the Year. Such decrease was mainly
attributable the effects of the unit cost of air and sea cargo
spaces remained at a high level due to limited supply caused by
the geopolitical risks and trade protectionism, it slowed down the
customs clearance process between different countries worldwide.

Other income, other gains and losses, net

Other income included bank interest income from bank deposits
and sundry income.

Other gains and losses included foreign exchange losses and
gains, and loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
in Hong Kong and PRC region. The Group recorded a net loss
in other gains and losses during the Year, which was mainly
attributable to the loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment in Hong Kong and PRC region.

Sales and marketing expenses

Sales and marketing expenses mainly included cost of business
development and soliciting new customers.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses slightly decreased to
approximately HK$22.7 million for the Year from approximately
HK$23.4 million for the Previous Year. Such expenses mainly
included staff costs and benefits, audit fees, legal and professional
fees, depreciation, utilities and other expenses.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Impairment losses under expected credit
losses model, net of reversal

Under the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9 “Financial
Instruments”, the management assessed the measurement of
expected credit losses (“ECL”) in relation to trade receivable,
deposit and other receivables and used a collectively assessed
provision matrix to calculate ECL.

During the Year, a reversal of impairment loss of approximately
HK$0.2 million (Previous Year: an impairment loss of approximately
HK$0.3 million) in trade receivables was recognised due to
the decrease in trade receivable balances and decrease in the
customer’s past due ratio.

During the Year, an impairment loss of approximately HK$0.5
million was recognised (Previous Year: a reversal of impairment
loss of approximately HK$5,000 was recognised) due to an
increase in deposits paid to suppliers of fashion items.

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

During the Year, several dormant subsidiaries in Hong Kong and
PRC region with a net liability and an accumulated losses have
been disposed in the first quarter of 2025, created a net gain of
approximately HK$1.9 million to the Group (Previous Year: nil).

Finance costs

Finance costs for the Year represented interest expenses on lease
liabilities and bank and other borrowings.

Finance costs increased to approximately HK$1.4 million for the
Year (Previous Year: approximately HK$0.1 million), as the amount
of bank and other borrowings increased significant during the
Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEER W R (F)

Income tax expense

The Group’s income tax expense primarily included provisions for
Hong Kong’s Profits Tax, the PRC Enterprise Income Tax, and
deferred income tax. A loss before taxation (Previous Year: loss
before taxation of approximately HK$24.8 million) of approximately
HK$25.1 million for the Year was recorded, and a deferred income
tax expenses of approximately HK$81,000 was recorded for the
Year (Previous Year: deferred income tax credit of approximately
HK$80,000).

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a loss for the year of approximately
HK$25.2 million for the Year, compared to a loss for the year of
approximately HK$24.7 million for the Previous Year. The loss
was mainly due to the effects of (i) a decrease in revenue from air
and sea freight forwarding services with related logistics services,
and the trading of fashion items in total of HK$29.6 million when
compared with the Previous year; and (i) an increase in finance
costs for the year of approximately HK$1.3 million when compared
with the Previous Year. All of these caused the Group faced a loss
after tax of HK$25.2 million for the Year.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables (net of allowance for expected credit losses
of trade receivables) decreased by 2.5% to approximately
HK$31.8 million (Previous year: approximately HK$32.6 million).
Such decrease was primarily to the settlements received from
the customers of the trading of fashion items during the Year
was approximately HK$5.1 million (Previous Year: approximately
HK$4.9 million). It represented a significant settlement as the
revenue for this segment was approximately HK$0.6 million only
during the Year.

Up to the date of this report, the Group has received

approximately HK$0.8 million settlements from the customers from
this segment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Group’s prepayment, deposits and other receivable (net
of allowance for expected credit losses of other receivables)
decreased by 32.7% to approximately HK$24.0 million (Previous
year: approximately HK$35.6 million). Such decrease was mainly
because of (i) decrease in prepayments to a supplier of logistics
and warehouse services by 80% to approximately HK$2.2 million
(Previous year: approximately HK$10.8 million) as continuing used
up the prepayment of storage fee during the year; and (ii) refund of
third party freight forwards received during the Year HK$2 million.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables increased by 4.7% to approximately HK$22.4
million (Previous year: approximately HK$21.4 million).

Other payables and accrued expenses decreased by 58.9%
to approximately HK$3.5 million (Previous year: approximately
HK$8.5 million). Such decrease was mainly because of disposal
of subsidiaries in HK and PRC region with Other payables and
accrued expenses of approximately HK$6.8 million (Previous Year:
5.0 million).

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year (Previous Year: nil).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
GEARING RATIO

The Group funded the liquidity and capital requirements for the
Year primarily through internal resources and bank and other
borrowings.

At 31 March 2025, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$15.5 million (at 31 March 2024: approximately
HK$14.8 million) and no pledged bank deposits (at 31 March
2024: approximately HK$3.0 million), most of which were either
denominated in HKD, USD or RMB.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEER W R (F)

At 31 March 2025, the Group had bank and other borrowings
approximately HK$9.1 million (at 31 March 2024: approximately
HK$0.8 million). The Group had lease liabilities of approximately
HK$0.2 million at 31 March 2025 (at 31 March 2024:
approximately HK$0.8 million).

The gearing ratio is the debts (including bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilities) divided by total equity and
multiplied by 100% at the year-end date. The gearing ratio of the
Group at 31 March 2025 was approximately 25.5% (at 31 March
2024: approximately 2.7%). As a result of the increase in bank
and other borrowings and decrease in total equity, the gearing
ratio of the Group increased as at the reporting date.

During the Year, the Group did not enter into any financial
instrument for hedging purpose.

The Directors are of the view that, at the date of this report, the
Group’s financial resources are sufficient to support its business
and operations.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 March 2025, no bank deposits (at 31 March 2024:
approximately HK$3.0 million) was pledged to secure the
guarantee facilities obtained by the Group. The Group did not
have any charges on its assets (at 31 March 2024: approximately
HK$0.8 million motor vehicles were held under finance lease).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

During the Year, the Group received payments from the Group’s
customers in foreign currencies, such as USD, Euro (“EUR”), RMB
and NTD, and also settled some of its costs and expenses with
suppliers in foreign currencies, such as in USD, EUR, RMB and
NTD. The Group is exposed to certain foreign exchange risks in
respect of depreciation or appreciation amongst those currencies.
The Group’s operating activities are mainly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and the Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risks primarily arising from provisions of services to customers
and payments of cost of services to suppliers whose operating
activities are denominated in foreign currencies. Although the
Group does not maintain any specific hedging policy or foreign
currency forward contracts, the Group’s management closely
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should it become necessary.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

At 31 March 2025, the Group had no outstanding capital
commitments (at 31 March 2024: nil) for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment. Save for the plans disclosed in
the Prospectus, the Company’s announcement(s) or the Annual
Report, the Group did not have any future plans for material
investments or capital assets at 31 March 2025.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

During the Year, several dormant subsidiaries in Hong Kong and
PRC region with a net liability and an accumulated losses have
been disposed in the first quarter of 2025, created a net gain of
approximately HK$1.9 million to the Group (Previous Year: nil).

Apart from the disposal mentioned in above, the Group did not
have any other material acquisition and disposal of subsidiary or
associated company during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEER W R (F)

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not hold any significant investments during the
Year.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Year, the Group invested HK$0.3 million in property,
plant and equipment, mainly attributable to right-of-use assets in
Hong Kong office (Previous year: approximately HK$1.9 million to
computer software in Hong Kong office).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities at 31
March 2024 and at 31 March 2025.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Save as disclosed in note 27 of this report, the Group did not
have any other change in the capital structure since 1 April 2024.
The share capital of the Company consists of ordinary shares of
the Company only.

On 3 December 2024, the Company has proposed share
consolidation of every ten (10) existing shares of HK$0.01 each
into one (1) consolidated share of HK$0.1 each (the “Share
Consolidation”). The Share Consolidation has been approved at
EGM on 15 January 2025 and effective from 17 January 2025.
After the Share Consolidation, the Company has 124,783,000
ordinary shares in issue at par value of HK$0.1 each.

At 31 March 2025, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$15.0 million, the number of issued ordinary shares was
149,739,000 and the par value of each ordinary share was
HK$0.10.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

TREASURY POLICY

The Group adopts a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the Year. The management of the Group
regularly reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debtor to ensure prompt recovery and if necessary, to make
adequate impairment losses for irrecoverable amounts. During
the Year, a sum of approximately HK$0.3 million of impairment
losses recognised under expected credit loss model on trade and
other receivables and deposits was recognised (Previous Year:
approximately HK$0.3 million was recognised.)

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

Since Donald Trump became the U.S. President, shifts in U.S.
trade tariff policies have disrupted the whole of the logistics
market and thus increasing shipment volatility. Additionally, the
ongoing U.S.-China trade war has accelerated supply chain
relocations to Southeast Asia and caused reducing cargo volumes
from China. This could lead to a decline in Chinese exports,
potentially affecting the Group’s business in this regard.

To tackle these challenges, management has been taking
proactive steps, including but not limited to implementing
cost-saving initiatives, securing financial stability, and diversifying
revenue sources. The Group remains committed to strengthening
customer relationships, outperforming competitors through
superior service provision, and optimising fleet and container
management to enhance reliability and flexibility.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

At 831 March 2025, the Group employed 23 staff in Hong Kong (at
31 March 2024: 32 staff in Hong Kong and 7 staff in the PRC).

For the Year, the Group’s total costs for employee compensation
and benefits (including Director’s emoluments) were approximately
HK$15.0 million (Previous Year: approximately HK$15.4 million).
Remuneration is determined with reference to market terms,
industrial norms and the performance, qualifications and
experience of the employees.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEER W R (F)

Apart from basic remuneration, share options may be granted by
the Company to eligible employees with reference to the Group’s
performance as well as the individual’s contribution. As disclosed
in the Prospectus, the Company adopted a share option scheme
on 14 August 2018 (“Share Option Scheme”) to incentivize and
retain staff members who have contributed to the development
and success of the Group. The Directors believe that the
compensation packages offered by the Group to its employees are
competitive in comparison with market standard and practices.

During the Year, the Group’s employees attended training in
relation to air cargo operations and safety, listing rules, tax and
accounting.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has in all material
respects complied with all relevant laws, rules and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group and its operations.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group regarded environmental protection as an integral part
of its operations. The management of the Company has promoted
the green concept in the daily operations through energy saving
programs and reducing resource consumption. When the Group
improved the lighting of the office, the Group already considered
using LED lights to reduce energy consumption. Employees are
encouraged to switch off air conditioning and electrical appliances
when they are not in use. The Group’s operation has complied in
all material respects with currently applicable local environmental
protection laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC during
the Year.

For details of environmental, social and governance performance

of the Group, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group always maintains good relations with its employees,
customers, suppliers, subcontractors and other stakeholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The management of the Group takes an active approach in
directly communicating with employees and providing adequate
training and medical insurance as part of their remuneration. Given
that employees are important assets for success, the Group has
strived to maintain good relations with its workforce and keep a
low employee turnover rate. This aims to boost the operational
dexterity and productivity of staff while inculcating team spirt
among them.

The Group treasures the close and long-term working relations
with its customers in the past years. The management frequent
visited the customers, collected their feedback on the provided
services and introduced updated and value-added services to
them.

Likewise, the Group also understands the importance of its
suppliers and subcontractors. The Group believes a harmonious
relationship with its suppliers and subcontractors is key to the
success of the business.

During the Year, there was no material or significant dispute
between the Group and its employees, customers, suppliers,
subcontractors and other stakeholders.

PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER
GENERAL MANDATE

On 11 March 2025, the Company conducted a placing of
24,956,600 new ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each (the “Placing
Share”) at a price of HK$0.137 each to raise a gross proceeds of
approximately HK$3.42 million (the “Placing”). The Placing Shares
were issued under the relevant general mandate granted to the
Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
23 September 2024. The closing price per share of the Company
on the Stock Exchange on 11 March 2025 was HK$0.17. The net
price per Placing Share was approximately HK$0.129. Completion
of the Placing took place on 31 March 2025 (the “Placing under
General Mandate”). As at the date of this report, the net proceeds
from the Placing under General Mandate (after deducting the
placing commission and other relevant costs and expenses)
amounted to approximately HK$3.19 million were fully utilised for
repayment of loans and replenishment of working capital. As at
the date of this report, the net proceeds arising from the Placing
had been applied in accordance with the plans as set out in the
Company’s announcements in relation to the Placing.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

EEER W R (F)

For further details of the Placing, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 11 March 2025 and 31
March 2025.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACING

The net proceeds from the Placing amounted to approximately
HK$3.19 million.

Set out below is the actual use of net proceeds during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

EHEREEHEHZE—THE  BREAR
AR A-_T_AF=ZA+—HEKZ-Z
“HE=R=+t—"HzA%-
REMSRERAE

AL EEMBFIBFELOASA9EEET -

TREIREBEE_FT_RAF=A=+—H
LHEERBRBFENERRAR -

Net
proceeds Unutilised Expected
utilised net timeline on
during the proceeds utilisation of
year ended as at Unutilised
Use of net proceeds Net 31 March 31 March net
FRERIBEFEARE proceeds 2025 2025 proceeds
BZE i
—E-HE —E-REF
=A=+-HBH =B=+—8 BRAMK
LFER mis A BRAME
BRAMB SRR MIEFHEDN
S RIE TR NI HFE BEHREEAR
HK$ million HKS$ million HK$ million
B &8 T 5 & BT H & 8T
Placing BEEE
Repayment of loans BEEER 2.00 - 2.00 N/A (note)
TERA (B at)
General working capital —REEES 1.19 - 1.19 N/A (note)
TERA (B at)
Total st 3.19 - 3.19
Note: Htaz

As at the date of this report, the net proceeds were utilised.

There was no material change between the intended use and the
actual use of the net proceeds of the Placing.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Mr. Thomas Loy), aged 54, was
appointed as a Director on 18 August 2017 and re-designated
as an executive Director, appointed as Chairman on 1 November
2017 and further appointed as chief executive officer on 16
November 2020. He relinquished his role as the chief executive
officer with effect from 20 August 2021. Mr. Thomas Loy served
as general manager of Union Air Cargo Limited (“Union Air”) since
1 May 2014 and was appointed as the sole director of Union Air
on 20 June 2015. Mr. Thomas Loy is responsible for the overall
business development, strategy and management of the Group.

Mr. Thomas Loy has over 34 years of experience in the logistics
industry and has obtained valuable knowledge in the overall
development of sales and operations management and procedures
in the industry.

Mr. Thomas Loy is the chairman of the Nomination Committee of
the Board with effect from 1 April 2021.

Qu Tianyun (Ms. Qu), aged 55, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 8 June
2023 and was re-designated as an executive Director with effect
from 1 December 2023. Ms. Qu currently is also the president
of Guangzhou Tianyun Culture Development Co., Ltd.* (& N
XEXLEREBR A A) and has over 30 years of extensive
experience in business operation, sales and marketing and brand
management of various companies specialised in a wide range of
personal care and hygiene products.

Ms. Qu is the member of the Nomination Committee of the Board
with effect from 26 June 2025.

For identification purpose

AT

(4

EENSREERBE

HBITES

BRE(BRENX®) 545 R_T—L
FNATNBEZEREST UTR_F
—tFt+ A HAHAERRTEENRES
EAEXEFE SR-_ZE-_FTF+—A+H
ﬁééffﬁf‘fﬂlﬁﬁﬁ"T&E%’-FEETTBZ?@%ZHE&

CTBZE—FNAZTHREAER - 3
ﬁﬁf‘ﬁigf? WERA—HREET
EEEARARI([FTE]ERLE R
TE—RAFANA-tHEZAATENE—
EF - PREEAEBELRAEEEBERE
R REERER -

BEREEERYRITEEEAIMVTLER
WHRZITEHEREEEEREFNEE
BRAIAMEEEENG -

AREAERESTEE NMERZBSTF
B-E-_—FMA—BEEXN-

RRX=(RLxL) 55 BEZAERBIIHF
WITES AT _=F~AN\BRBREX
WRERNITEE BT _=F+_H
—HRER - BRLZT BRI AEMNREX
LERBERAFMESRENEREMUS
Xﬁ“}\g FHEERZARINERE

CHEREHEARDBEETEEAS
%E%;ﬁmo

RUTAESERELZESENE 8=
“HENAZFAABRERER-

A

* [EXGE ]

BEEEERAERAR —O-—MmM-——-—O—REF®R 21
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EEREREEEBE (A)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Li Shiu Tong (Mr. Li), aged 62, was appointed as a
non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 30
December 2024. He has a wealth of experience in corporate
finance, mergers and acquisitions, financial management and
business development across various industries, including
manufacturing, financial consultancy and security services. He
obtained his Master of Business Administration (MBA) from the
University of Wales College of Cardiff, UK, in 1988. He is also a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(HKICPA) since 19983. Mr. Li served as the Chief Executive Officer
of Indigo Living Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Pacific
Legend Group Limited (HK stock code: 8547) from January 2022
to December 2023.

Yau Tung Shing (Mr. Yau), aged 34, was appointed as a
non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 30
December 2024. He has extensive experience in corporate
finance, mergers and acquisitions and fundraising exercises
in various ventures and projects with a deal portfolio covering
private entities and publicly listed companies in Hong Kong and
the People’s Republic of China. He is also a licensed person
registered under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFQO”) to carry out Type
6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activity. Mr. Yau
has been appointed as a non-executive director of Pinestone
Capital Limited (stock code: 804) from 2 September 2022 to 30
December 2024 and as an independent non-executive director of
MOG Digitech Holdings Limited (stock code: 1942) since August
2022. He is also a responsible officer of Silverbricks Securities
Company Limited, a licensed corporation registered under the
SFO to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 2 (dealing in
future contracts) and Type 6 (advising on corporate finance).
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

EEREREEEBE (&)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Chow Chi Wing (Mr. Chow), aged 46, is an independent non-
executive Director with effect from 1 July 2021. He is a qualified
professional accountant with over 20 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and financial management. He held senior
positions in several public companies in Hong Kong. Between 16
July 2015 and 31 October 2020, Mr. Chow was the chief financial
officer, the company secretary, and an authorised representative
of Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited (stock code: 8030),
the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange,
and he continued to serve as the company secretary and the
authorised representative as an external service provider from
1 November 2020 to 23 February 2023. Mr. Chow also served
as the company secretary and the authorised representative of
Asia Television Holdings Limited (stock code: 707), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
from 16 April 2021 to 8 August 2022. Since 1 November 2022,
Mr. Chow was appointed as the company secretary of Tian
Cheng Holdings Limited (stock code: 2110), the share of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chow
was appointed as the chief financial office, the company secretary
and the authorised representative of Wisdom Wealth Resources
Investment Holding Group Limited (stock code: 7) on 6 November
2023, shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.

Mr. Chow holds a Bachelor's Degree of Business Administration
(Hons) (majoring in Accountancy) from The Hong Kong Baptist
University. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chow is the member of Remuneration Committee, the member

of Audit Committee and the member of Nomination Committee of
the Board.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s

EEREREEEBE (A)

Tam Chi Ming George (Mr. Tam), aged 50, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director of the Company with
effect from 9 October 2024. He has over 15 years of experience
in financial management, operation and compliance. Mr. Tam
has been working as the chief investment officer at Hengli
Investments Holding (Group) Limited since March 2014, where
he is responsible for deal structuring and execution, financial
management and project financing. Mr. Tam is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
Chartered member of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.
Mr. Tam obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1997 and a master’s degree
in Business Administration from the University of London in 2007.

Mr. Tam is the chairman of Audit Committee of the Board
with effect from 30 December 2024, and is the member of
Remuneration Committee and the member of Nomination
Committee of the Board with effect from 9 October 2024.

Wan San Fai Vincent (Mr. Wan), aged 50, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company with
effect from 9 October 2024. He has over 25 years of experience
in auditing, accounting and financial management. Mr. Wan has
been working as the company secretary of Pan Asia Environment
Protection Group Limited (stock code: 556), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since March 2007 and its
chief financial officer from March 2007 to March 2024. Mr. Wan
has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of
China Oriented International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1871),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
since 1 March 2023. Mr. Wan has also been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Yue Kan Holdings Limited
(now known as Tian Cheng Holdings Limited) (stock code: 2110),
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
since 1 November 2022. Mr. Wan obtained a bachelor’s degree
in accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
November 1996. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Wan is the chairman of Remuneration Committee, the member

of Audit Committee and the member of Nomination Committee of
the Board with effect from 9 October 2024.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

EEREREEEBE (&)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Liao Daichun (Mr. Liao), aged 54, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 23 April 2021. He resigned from the position
as a non-executive Director on 2 August 2021. Mr. Liao is the
chief executive officer of the Company with effect from 20 August
2021.

Mr. Liao, has over 20 years of experience in hospitality industry.
He obtained a bachelor’'s degree in mechanical engineering
(mechanical and manufacturing) from Guangxi University ( & 78 K
), the People’s Republic of China. Between 1994 and 2010,
he joined Guangxi Wharton International Hotel Limited* (/& 75K 18
B R AOB JE A IR A &) with his last position as general manager.
Between 2011 and 2017, he joined Guangxi Yihe Xinyuan Hotel
Limited* (/& 79 F8 A1 1 B KB JE A R A 7)) as general manager.
Between 2018 and 2019, he served as general manager of
Nanning Kang Shan Da Network Technology Company Limited*
(BEmEREMENBEARAA). Since 2020, he serves as
general manager of Zhejiang Jiyueke Brand Management Co., Ltd.
(formerly knowns as Guangdong Jiyueke Brand Management Co.,
Ld) M I &SN EmEEREGRAA  AIBEREOERERER
BRAAD.

Loy Hak Moon (Mr. HM Loy), aged 52, was appointed as
Director on 10 August 2017 and re-designated as an executive
Director and appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 1
November 2017. Mr. HM Loy resigned from the aforesaid positions
on 16 November 2020. He is primarily responsible for operations
and business expansions of the Group. Mr. HM Loy is the founder
of Orient Zen Logistics Services Limited and Fu Cheng Logistics
Co. Limited. He is the younger brother of Mr. Thomas Loy.

Mr. HM Loy has accumulated more than 26 years of experience in
the logistics industry and has obtained comprehensive knowledge
and experience in its business development and operation
management in the freight forwarding and logistics industry.
Mr. HM Loy also completed trainings in dangerous goods handling
in the past years.

For identification purpose
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s

EEREREEEBE (A)

Wong Ka Man (Mr. Wong), aged 58, was appointed as chief
financial officer on 1 August 2017, primarily responsible for
financial planning, financial report to shareholders and the board,
managing financial risks and fund raising.

Mr. Wong has more than 35 years of experience in audit and
accounting, with several years of working experience in companies
listed in Hong Kong and New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong is
a member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

Choi Ho Yan (Mr. Choi), aged 48, was appointed as an assistant
chief financial officer on 13 August 2021. Mr. Choi obtained a
degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accounting from the University of
Hertfordshire in July 1998. He has has over 24 years of extensive
experience in accounting, auditing, corporate finance and
re-structuring, investor relations, and project acquisitions. He also
has experience in serving listed companies operating in Mainland
China, Hong Kong and Singapore.

Mr. Choi has been an independent non-executive director of Sang
Hing Holdings (International) Limited, the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1472),
since April 2023. He has also been an independent non-executive
director of Jimu Group Limited, the shares of which are listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8187), since
February 2022. Since May 2013, Mr. Choi has been serving as an
independent non-executive director of Time Watch Investments
Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2033). From March 2020 to March
2021, Mr. Choi served as an independent non-executive director
of Long Well International Holdings Limited, the shares of which
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 850) and was delisted from the Stock Exchange on 28
May 2021. From June 2020 to November 2022, Mr. Choi served
as an independent non-executive director of China Saite Group
Company Limited, the shares of which were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 153) and was delisted
from the Stock Exchange on 16 November 2022.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies (Continued)

Wong Kok Hon (Mr. KH Wong), aged 53, was appointed as the
company secretary of the Company on 4 May 2022. He has over
20 years of experience in auditing, accounting, internal control
and financial management. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. KH
Wong has worked for several listed companies in Hong Kong
with his last position as financial controller of Goal Rise Logistics
(China) Holdings Limited (stock code: 1529) from June 2021 to
December 2021. Mr. KH Wong is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He obtained the
Honours Diploma in Accountancy from Lingnan College (currently
known as Lingnan University).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERBE

The Board of Directors is pleased to present this Corporate
Governance Report for the Year ended 31 March 2025.

During the Year, the Group was committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance, and complying with the Code
of Corporate Governance Practices to the extent practicable.
The Company has applied the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1
to the GEM Listing Rules. During the Year, the Company has
complied, to the extent applicable and permissible, with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control, and
promoting the success of the Group. This is achieved by setting
of corporate strategic objectives and policies, and the monitoring
and evaluations of operating activities and financial performance
of the Group.

In this report, the references to code provisions in the CG Code
have been updated with references to the CG Code as amended
on 1 January 2022.

CORPORATE STRATEGY AND LONG
TERM BUSINESS MODEL

During the Year, the Company was principally engaged in the
provision of freight forwarding and related logistics services, the
provision of entrusted management services for operating an
online e-commerce platform, and trading of fashion items. The
Company’s corporate objective is to create and enhance value for
Shareholders. To achieve this corporate objective, the business
strategies of the Company are to maintain the long-term growth
and profitability of the Company. The Company is committed to
maintaining a solid and healthy financial status with a solid cash
balance and an efficient debt/equity ratio that will enable the
Company to finance the existing operations and proceed with
potential investments.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of the
Company by the Directors (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).

Following specific enquiries to all of the Directors, each Director
has confirmed that he or she complied with the Required Standard
of Dealings throughout the period from 1 April 2024 and up to 31
March 2025.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, two
non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors. The number of independent non-executive Directors
represents more than one-third of the Board, which complies
with the requirement under Rules 5.05A, 5.05(1) and (2) of the
GEM Listing Rules. Their names are identified in various corporate
communications and in all announcements. The biographical
details and the relationship among the members of the Board
are disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and Senior
Management’s Biographies” of this Annual Report. Also, the Board
established three Board committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERKRE (H)

Board Composition

The Directors believe that the current composition of the Board
reflects the necessary balance of academic, professional
qualification, skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate for the requirements of the business and effective
leadership of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors
of the Company are experts in various business sectors. Under
Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules, at least one of the
independent non-executive Directors has appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The Directors are of the opinion that the present
structure of the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company complies with Rule 5.05(2) of the GEM Listing Rules and
can ensure independence and objectivity and provide checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the
Company.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance
practices in order to enhance its corporate governance standard,
to comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory requirements
and to meet the rising expectations of shareholders and investors.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Proceedings of Meetings

The Chairman is responsible for drawing up and approving the
agenda for each Board meeting in consultation with all Directors
and the company secretary of the Company.

Prior notice of each Board meeting was given to all Directors at
least 14 days in advance of all regular Board meetings and the
Directors were invited to include matters of their special concerns
for discussion in the agenda. The company secretary assists the
Chairman in preparing agenda for each Board meeting. Draft
agenda for each Board meeting is circulated to all Directors to
enable them to include other matters in the agenda. The agenda
and accompanying board papers were then sent in full to all
Directors at least 3 days in advance or within reasonable time
prior to the relevant Board meetings.

The minutes of the Board meetings recorded in sufficient detail
the matters considered by the Board. The minutes of all Board
meetings and all other committee meetings are kept by the
company secretary and are available upon prior appointment
for inspection by any Directors, auditors or any relevant eligible
parties who are entitled to have access to such information.

The Directors were reminded to declare any conflicts of interest at
the Board meetings and to abstain from voting and be excluded
from counting as quorum in that meeting whenever there are
potential or actual conflicts of interest arising.

Induction and Training for Directors

Every newly appointed Director of the Company will receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction package to ensure
that he or she has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operation and business and the relevant statutes, common
laws, the Listing Rules, legal and regulatory requirements and
governance policies.

In compliance with the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all
Directors shall participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERKRE (H)

The Company also acknowledges the importance of continuing
professional development for the Directors for a sound and
effective internal control system and corporate governance. In
this regard, the Company encouraged the Directors to attend
relevant training courses to receive the latest news and knowledge
regarding corporate governance. The Company will also from time
to time provide relevant briefings to all Directors to develop and
refresh their duties and responsibilities.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional
development and provided a record of training they received for
the Year to the Company. The training record of each Director
received for the Year is summarised below:

Name of Director

ARANAEESEEHAER LR 2
2T ERONBEL RGRDEE
WEEY - Al AAARDEFLES
BRI I ERAR - LAJE R B 0 3 R B0 BT
BRRME - ARANETEAREEE
REEMEE LRRRENRSHRE
REAE -

PREFC2EBEZIXERR - YEMAA
NAREHBEERERFEEZEINNGLEE -
BEERAFEMER 2B 088t 4
T @

Type of Training

EEHA I ER
Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas A, B
B R HEEE
Mr. Zhang Pangfei (retired on 23 September 2024) A B
RERAE(RZZBE-_NFAA=ZT=BRAE)
Ms. Wu Yushan (retired on 23 September 2024) A, B
SRR (RZZE_MFAAZ+T=HRE)
Mr. Yan Ximao (resigned on 30 December 2024) A B
BAXKEE(RZZE_NF+A=1+HET)
Ms. Qu Tianyun A, B
RR=RL
Mr. Li Shiu Tong Andrew (appointed on 30 December 2024) A, B
FRAREE (R _WNFET_A=THEZE)
Mr. Yau Tung Shlng (appointed on 30 December 2024) A, B
BRKEE(R_ZE_MF+_A=+HEZE)
Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (resigned on 30 December 2024) A, B
MEREE(RZE-_WMF+=A=1+HET)
Mr. Chow Chi Wing A, B
Mr. Liao Donggiang (resigned on 22 August 2024) A, B
BRELE(R_Z_WMFNRAZ+ZHEHT)
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (appointed on 22 August 2024 and

retired on 23 September 2024) A B
RECHT(RZZE-_WNENAZTZHEZER

RZZBE_MFAAZ+=BRE)
Mr Tam Chi Ming George (appointed on 9 October 2024) A, B

EHEE(RZZE-_MFE+ANBEZE)

Mr Wan San Fai Vincent (appointed on 9 October 2024) A, B

BIEREE(R_F_WF+ANBERE)
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Notes:

A. attending seminars, conferences and/or forums on subjects relating to
directors’ duties and corporate governance.

B. reading newspapers, journals and updates as regards to legal and
regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the Directors in the
discharge of their duties.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles of Association of the Company contain provisions for
the appointment, re-election and removal of Directors.

Each executive Directors entered into a service contract with
the Company on their appointment dates, each non-executive
Directors entered into a service contract with the Company on
their appointment dates and each independent non-executive
Director signed a letter of appointment on their appointment
dates. The service contracts with the executive Directors and
non-executive Director and the letters of appointment with the
independent non-executive Directors are for an initial term of
three years. The service contracts and letters of appointment are
subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms.
The service contracts may be renewed in accordance with the
Articles of Association of the Company and the applicable GEM
Listing Rules.

Each Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years but is eligible for re-election at an annual
general meeting in accordance with the Articles of Association.
The Articles further specify that any Directors appointed during
the Year to fill a casual vacancy are subject to re-election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after such appointments
and any Directors appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for
re-election.

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas, Mr. Li Shiu Tong Andrew, Mr. Yau Tung
Shing, Mr. Tam Chi Ming George and Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent
(collectively the “Retiring Directors”) will retire from office as
Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”)
of the Company on 27 August 2025. The Retiring Directors will
offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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TRERKRE (H)

At the AGM, separate ordinary resolutions will be put forward
to the shareholders of the Company in relation to the proposed
re-election of the Retiring Directors.

With reference to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Tam
Chi Ming George and Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent, who were
appointed as independent non-executive directors on 9 October
2024, obtained the legal advice referred to under Rule 5.09 of
the GEM Listing Rules and confirmed that they understood their
obligations as directors of the Company. Mr. Li Shiu Tong Andrew
and Mr. Yau Tung Shing, who were appointed as non-executive
directors on 30 December 2024, obtained the legal advice referred
to under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules on or around 30
December 2024 and have confirmed that they have understood
their obligations as directors of the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 28 December
2018 and this policy had been revised on 25 June 2025. A
summary of this policy, together with the implementation are
disclosed as below.

Summary of Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve
diversity on the Board of the Company. To achieve a sustainable
and balanced development, the Company encourages increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting
the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable
development. In designing an appropriate composition of the
Board, the diversity of the Board has been considered from a
number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
sexual orientation, disability, nationality, religious or philosophical
belief, family status, educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Company has always strived to enhance female representation
in the workforce and currently has one female Director. As at the
date of the report, the ratio of male and female employees of the
Group (including senior management) is 1:0.53. The Company will
continue to achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity
according to business needs and future development. The
Company will also ensure that there is gender diversity when
recruiting staff at the mid to senior level and is committed to
providing career development opportunities for female staff so that
the Company will have a pipeline of potential successors to our
Board in the future.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Implementation of Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee reviews the composition of the
Board from diversified angles. At the date of this Annual Report,
the Board comprises seven members, amongst them, three
are independent non-executive Directors. All the executive and
non-executive Directors have been working in the logistics, freight
forwarding and financial industry, or listed companies for over
a number of years. The independent non-executive Directors
have abundant experience in corporate governance and financial
management. Taking into account the existing needs of the
Company, the combination of the Board would bring about the
necessary balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirements of the business development of the Company.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy.

The Company will disclose details of the Board Diversity Policy
together with any measurable objectives it has set itself in this
regard and the progress made towards achieving those objectives
including the Company’s diversity profile, in the corporate
governance report set out in its annual report.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy
on a regular basis to ensure the effectiveness. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
on 28 December 2018. A summary of this policy, together with
the implementation are disclosed as below.
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TRERKRE (H)

Summary of Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy aims to set out the approach to guide the
Nomination Committee in relation to the selection, appointment
and re-appointment of the directors of the Company. This also
ensures that the Board has a balance of skills, experience,
knowledge and diversity of perspectives appropriate for the
requirements of the Company’s business. It also includes the
succession planning of the Company’s key personnel.

Selection criteria

(a)

The factors listed below would be used as reference by
the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate:

character and integrity;

qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

accomplishment and experience in the business from
time to time conducted, engaged in or invested in by
any member of the Group;

commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

requirement for the Board to have independent
directors in accordance with the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing
Rules;

Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving
diversity on the Board; and

such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

30 Wan Leader International Limited Annual Report 2024 — 2025

REBRBE

REBREEIAEIREEZES
REREEARRESZTH I - mﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
EZeRANAEGTEREREE K-
B KL B R T AR FE P o BURTR
BREARRTEANSNEEFTS -

SHENGERAERLAE
BH2ETIIRE :

#

o mRRRHIME:

s EBER BREARAEBHRE
ERBHEBNERER - BEE -
R N A B

. EKEIEHEEE\”TTH%L‘
CREFIRENEBHREFEH
ﬁkﬁ‘yt&%“%ﬁ:

o HERANERERKXAERRG
B 1 28

o EZeRBEBBERIFNE
fR 2 RIGEMZE % L TR R E
RUBIEE UNERAR
LR IBEGEM L iR Bl BT & &Y
B IR S| TR AR AL

. BEEgNEZ BRI RIER
ZESABEREZESZ L
MERMERAIFEER: &

s EARARREHMEMIIE -

m"



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has
the discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate.

(b) Rigorous review is applied to assessing the continuing
independence of Directors having served for over 9
consecutive years, with attention to ensuring that they remain
independent in character and judgement, and continue
to present an objective and constructive challenge to the
assumptions and viewpoints presented by the management
and the Board.

(c) Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with their
written consent to be appointed as Directors and to the
public disclosure of their personal data on any documents or
the relevant websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as a Director.

(d)  The Nomination Committee may request candidates to
provide additional information and documents, if considered
necessary.

Nomination Procedures

(@) For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations for the Board’s consideration
and approval. For proposing candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting, the Nomination Committee
shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration
and recommendation. The Board shall have the ultimate
responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors.

(b)  The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out in
selection criteria to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.

(c) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).
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(d) For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a director at the general meeting of the Company
pursuant to its constitutional documents, the Nomination
Committee shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out in selection criteria to determine whether
such candidate is qualified for directorship and where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
shall make recommendation to shareholders in respect of
the proposed election of director at the general meeting.

Re-election of Directors at General Meetings

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring director including his/
her attendance of Board meetings and, where applicable, general
meetings, and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review and determine
whether the retiring director continues to meet the selection
criteria aforementioned.

Implementation of Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee of the Company shall nominate
suitable candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as directors of the
Company at general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual
vacancies.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Nomination Policy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy on
a regular basis to ensure its continued effectiveness, will discuss
any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Company will disclose details of the Nomination Policy
together with any measurable objectives it has set itself in this
regard and the progress made towards achieving those objectives,
in the corporate governance report set out in its annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 28

December 2018. A summary of the Dividend Policy, together with

the implementation are disclosed as below.

Summary of Dividend Policy

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to its

shareholders of the Company to be its goal. The Company’s

Dividend Policy aims to allow shareholders to participate in

the Company’s profit and for the Company to retain adequate

reserves for future growth. In proposing any dividend payout, the

Board would consider the following factors:

° general business conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial
performance and position of the Company;

° the financial condition and results of operations of the Group;

° the expected capital requirements and future expansion
plans of the Group;

° future prospects of the Group;

° statutory and regulatory restrictions;

° contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the
Group to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the
Company to the Company;

o taxation considerations;

° shareholders’ interests; and

° other factors the Board may deem relevant.
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Implementation of Dividend Policy

The Board may pay out half-yearly or at other suitable intervals to
be settled by it any dividend which may be payable at a fixed rate
if the Board is of the opinion that the financial conditions and the
profits of the Company justify the payment.

The payment of dividend is also governed by the applicable laws
and regulations and the Company’s constitutional documents.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time
and there can be no assurance that dividend will be recommended
or declared in any particular amount for any given period. The
declaration of or recommendation of declaration of dividend is
subject to the absolute discretion of the Board. Even if the Board
decides to recommend and declare dividend, the form, frequency
and amount will depend upon the operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual
restrictions and other factors of and affecting the Group.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising the
Company’s affairs.

The Chairman leads the Board to formulate corporate mission,
visions and policies of the Group and to ensure that all Directors
are properly briefed on issues.

All executive Directors take an active interest in the affairs of
the Company with a good understanding of the business, and
play important roles in the daily operations and management of
the Company, whilst all independent non-executive Directors
participate in the Board meetings and bring their independent
views and judgments on various issues.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed with a formal letter of appointment setting out the
terms and conditions of their respective appointment. Prior to their
respective appointment, each of the independent non-executive
Directors has submitted a written confirmation to the Company
and the Stock Exchange confirming their independence and has
undertaken to inform the Company and the Stock Exchange
as soon as practicable if there is any subsequent change of
circumstances which may affect their independence.

Independent non-executive Directors provide the Group with
a wide range of skills, expertise and varied backgrounds
and qualifications through their regular attendance at various
committee meetings and advise on the affairs of the Company.
They bring independent opinion and judgment on the strategy and
policies to ensure that the interests of all shareholders are taken
into account.

The Company reviews annually and obtains confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors during their respective terms of appointment. During the
Year, the Company received written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors with reference to Rule 5.09
of the regarding GEM Listing Rules. Based on the confirmations,
the Company considers that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent, in compliance with the GEM Listing
Rules requirements.

Directors and Officers’ Indemnity
The Company subscribes for an insurance policy to cover for

the Directors’ and Officers’ liabilities in respect of potential legal
actions against the Directors and officers of the Company.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and to make appropriate
recommendations to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM
Listing Rules; and

6. to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistle blowing policy.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While at all times the Board retains full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the operations of the Group, the Board delegated
certain responsibilities to the senior management team of the
Company, including the day-to-day operations of the Group. Such
senior management team accounts for its performance to the
Board.

During the Year, the executive Directors frequently met and
discussed with the senior management team in order to maintain
an effective feedback system and enable the Group to react to
changes or problems quickly and efficiently. The Board shall
review its arrangement on delegation of responsibilities and
authority regularly to ensure that such delegations are appropriate
in view of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that
appropriate reporting system is in place.

Each Director is free to seek advice from and has access to the
Company’s senior management team independently.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board currently has three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. All the committees are empowered by the Board
under their own terms of reference which have been posted on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and are
available for inspection by the shareholders of the Company upon
request made to the Company Secretary.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 14 August 2018 and at
the date of this Annual Report comprises three members. All of
them are independent non-executive Directors, namely:

Mr. Tam Chi Ming George (Chairman)
Mr. Chow Chi Wing
Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has
extensive commercial experience and the Audit Committee has a
suitable mix of expertise in various businesses, financial and legal
sectors and that the composition and establishment of the Audit
Committee complies with the requirements under Rules 5.28 to
5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and CG Code.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERKRE (H)

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, but are
not limited to (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;
(i) monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and reviewing the annual reports and accounts and half-year
report, and reviewing significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them; and (iii) reviewing the financial reporting,
financial controls, risk management and internal control systems
of the Group.

During the Year, the Audit Committee met twice and the
attendance of individual Directors at the Audit Committee
meetings is set out on page 47 of this Annual Report.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year:

1. Reviewed annual financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2024 and interim financial statements for the period
ended 30 September 2024 before submission to the Board
for approval;

2.  Considered and made recommendations to the Board on the
re-appointment of the external auditor at the 2024 AGM; and

S Reviewed the effectiveness of internal control and risk
management systems of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 14 August 2018
and at the date of this Annual Report comprises three members,
all are independent non-executive Directors, namely:

Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent (Chairman)
Mr. Chow Chi Wing
Mr. Tam Chi Ming George

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include (but
without limitation): (a) making recommendations to the Directors
regarding the policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management and on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policies; (b) making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management;
(c) reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and (d) considering and approving the grant of share
options to eligible participants pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee met three times
and the attendance of each individual Director is set out on page
47 of this Annual Report. The Remuneration Committee reviewed
and approved the remuneration packages of the Directors and
senior management.

The remuneration of the executive Directors and members of
senior management who were employed by the Group during the
Year, shown by band, is set out below:
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERKRE (H)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises five members at the date
of this Annual Report, including two executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely:

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Chairman)
Mr. Chow Chi Wing

Mr. Tam Chi Ming George

Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent

Ms. Qu Tianyun

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee is to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select, or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of, individuals nominated for directorships.

Selection and appointment of new directors will be based on a
range of diverse perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
ethnicity, skills, knowledge, length of services, and such qualities
and attributes that may be required by the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee met twice and the
attendance of each individual Director is set out on page 47 of this
Annual Report. The Nomination Committee reviewed and approved
the appointment of executive Directors, senior management and
independent non-executive Director.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRE (E)

Attendance at Board meetings, Board EEEER EEZEEEERK
Committee Meetings and Annual General RERAEAE XS HEL R
Meeting

Individual attendance records of the relevant Directors during the MHEEERNAFERNBOER LB EEm T -
Year are as follows:

Number of Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend

HREEHEAY/ FERLREESE
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Annual  Extraordinary

Board Committee Committee Committee General General
Directors Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meeting Meeting
Bz ES283 FHZEEEE FMWZEEEE REZEEEE RREFAE  RREAAS
Executive Directors:
HITEE:
Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas 13/14 N/A N/A 212 11 212

ERERE TER TiEH
Mr. Zhang Pangfei “**" 5/5 N/A N/A N/A 11 N/A
FEREE T TER TiEH TER TER
Ms. Wu Yushan "**" 4/5 N/A N/A N/A 11 N/A
BR/Kt " TER TiEH TER TER
Mr. Yan Ximao "**"” 11/11 N/A N/A N/A 11 11
BAkEs e TER TiEH TER
Ms. Qu Tianyun 14/15 N/A N/A N/A 11 212
FRERT TER TiEH TER
Non-executive Directors:
FHTEE
Mr. Li Shiu Tong Andrew (Note i) 33 N/A N/A N/A N/A 11
FRF LA ) TER TiEH TER TER
Mr. Yau Tung Shing " 3/3 N/A N/A N/A N/A 17
R T TER TER TR TER
Independent Non-executive Directors:
BUFHTEE:
Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo "**" 111 2/2 2/2 N/A 11 17
miﬁ: Eﬂ % E:’ei"?ff/w//‘ T\i@)ﬂ
Mr. Chow Chi Wing 15/15 212 313 212 11 212
Mr L|ao Dongqmng e ) 3/3 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A
BR#gs TER TR TER TEA
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy """ 11 N/A N/A N/A 1/1 N/A
RBY fr4 MW TER Tam TER TER
Mr. Tam Chi Ming George "**" 8/8 1N 1 il N/A 2/2
EEHEE T TER
Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent "** 8/8 11 1/ 11 N/A 212
BHELE TR
A™
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TRERKRE (H)

Notes: (i) Mr. Zhang Pangfei was retired on 23 September 2024.
(ii) Ms. Wu Yushan was retired on 23 September 2024.
(iii) Mr. Yan Ximao resigned on 30 December 2024.
(iv) Mr. Li Shiu Tong Andrew was appointed on 30 December 2024.
(V) Mr. Yau Tung Shing was appointed on 30 December 2024.
(vi) Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo resigned on 30 December 2024.
(vi)  Mr. Liao Donggiang resigned on 22 August 2024.

(vii)  Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy was appointed on 22 August 2024 and
was retired on 23 September 2024.

(ix) Mr. Tam Chi Ming George was .appointed on 9 October 2024.

(X) Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent was appointed on 9 October 2024.

Besides the above Board meetings, the Chairman of the Board,
Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas, held one Directors’ meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors during the Year.

Apart from said meetings, matters requiring Board’s approval were
also arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions of all
Board members.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Directors’ responsibilities in financial reporting

The Board is committed to providing a balanced, clear and
comprehensible assessment of the financial performance, position
and prospects of the Group. The Board, assisted by the Audit
Committee, oversees the financial reporting process of the
Group. The Audit Committee monitors the integrity of the financial
statements and quarterly, interim and annual reports and accounts
of the Group.

All Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group, which shall give a true
and fair view of the financial status of the Group. During the Year,
the Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to event or condition that might cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the
Directors prepared the financial statements of the Company on a
going concern basis.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

The Company commits to announce its interim and annual results
as soon as reasonably practicable after the end of the relevant
period and the financial year respectively as required by the GEM
Listing Rules and discloses all such information as would enable
the shareholders of the Company to assess the performance,
financial position and prospects of the Group.

Auditor’s responsibilities

The responsibilities of external auditor with respect to financial
reporting are set out in the Independent Auditor’s report on pages
74 to 79 of this Annual Report.

Auditor’s remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor,
JH CPA Alliance Limited during the Year is set out as follows:

TRERKE ()

AREARENEBHE MM RFEESERE
EEBRSEBRTRERERGEM ET R AR
EDRIAMEPHEFERE  REEM
EABEHR WEARFRKRRFEAEHE
MR - FHAR R AR

BEE 2 BT
SNERBM BB BREDECRAEF
RETAETOE MBI YED R -

BB AT =

RAFEEN /BN ERRIINEZEME

=S

ERHAMEBAAERIANMESEHINNT

Fees paid/payable

B EMAEH

Services rendered HK$’000

T 12 14t 9 R 75 FET
SFAI (HK) CPA Limited XKIhEEEAMEBAAERA

Audit services Z B R 7% 700

The Audit Committee reflected their views to the Board that the B ZEZEe€omEZeRE  RAEEN/

remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor
was reasonable and fair in all circumstances and there had been
no major disagreement between the external auditor and the
management of the Company during the Year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to
take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring
the risk management and internal control systems maintain sound
and effective. The Board also recognises internal audit assists the
Company in protecting its assets. The Audit Committee assisted
the Board in fulfilling its responsibility. The management provided
a confirmation to the Board that the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company maintains sound and effective
throughout the Year. The Board has adopted a risk assessment
policy on 8 March 2019.
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TRERKRE (H)

The task of annual review of the internal audit of the Company
during the Year has been commissioned to an external
professional firm as its internal control review adviser (the
“Adviser”). Such review is conducted annually and cycles reviewed
are under rotation basis. The Adviser is not an affiliate with the
Directors and the employees of the Group and is regarded as an
independent third party.

The Adviser conducted the annual review of the effectiveness of
the internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2025.
The aforementioned scope of review was previously determined
and approved by the Audit Committee. The Adviser has reported
major findings and areas for improvement to the Audit Committee.
All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board and Audit Committee are of
the view that there are no material internal control defects noted.
The Board considered that the internal audit control system are
effective and adequate.

The Group has yet to establish its internal audit function during
the Year as required under CG Code D.2.5. After careful
consideration of the Group’s size, nature, and complexity of
business, the Directors have determined that it would be more
cost-effective to engage external independent professionals for
the internal audit function. This decision aims to fulfill the Group’s
requirements effectively. The Audit Committee and the Board have
thoroughly assessed the internal control review report prepared by
an independent consultancy company and engaged in discussions
with the Company’s external auditor regarding any significant
control deficiencies identified during the financial statement audit.
These evaluations serve as the basis for reviewing the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems. The Company believes that the above-mentioned
arrangements are sufficient to maintain appropriate risk
management and internal control within the Group. The Audit
Committee and the Board will regularly assess the necessity of an
internal audit function on an annual basis. The Audit Committee
and the Board, has considered the internal control review report
prepared by the Adviser and communications with the Company’s
external auditor in respect of any material control deficiencies
identified during the course of the financial statement audit to
form the basis to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems. The Audit
Committee and the Board will continue to review the need for an
internal audit function on an annual basis.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Main features of the risk management and
internal control systems

The Board has the following responsibilities towards the risk
management and internal control systems:

review and approve risk management policy, with the
risk management framework and program on an ongoing
basis, including the design, implementation, monitoring,
maintenance and changes;

evaluate and provide direction to the Group on the nature
and extent of the risks that shall be taken in achieving its
strategic objectives (i.e. setting the risk appetite);

ensure review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems is conducted at least annually,
including changes and nature and extent of significant risks
from last annual review and the Group’s ability to respond to
changes in its business and external environment, the scope
and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks,
extent and frequency of communication of monitoring results
to the Board, significant control failings or weaknesses
identified during the period; and

discuss the risk management framework and program with
the risk management taskforce and senior management to
ensure that operation management has fulfilled their duties
in establishing and maintaining an effective risk management
program.
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TRERKRE (H)

The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight
role in the Group’s financial reporting, financial controls, risk
management and internal controls systems. The Audit Committee
also discusses the risk management and internal control systems
with the Company’s management to ensure that the management
has performed its duty to have effective systems. Such discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting functions. The Audit Committee
considers major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s response to these findings.

The management assists the Board in the implementation of
the Group’s policies, procedures and limits within the Board’s
approved risk appetite by identifying and assessing the risks
faced, and in the design, operation and monitoring of suitable
internal controls to mitigate and control these risks.

Risk assessment process
Risk assessment approach

A risk management program was carried out during the Year
to ensure all material risks to which the Company exposed are
properly identified, assessed, managed, monitored and reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board. To facilitate the risk
management process, the Group set up a risk management
taskforce which is comprised of senior management. The risk
management taskforce provides assistance to the department
heads in performing the annual risk assessment process.

Risk identification

Risks identification is based on questionnaire with department
heads from different departments. Risks are preliminary identified
by senior management from the risk inventory which is a collection
of risks built on industrial analysis and external benchmarking that
can impact the Group at the entity or specific business process
level. The risk inventory covers both internal and external risks in
four major areas, namely strategic risks, operational risks, financial
risks and regulatory risks. Key risk factors are then identified by
integrating the results of the questionnaire.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

Risk evaluation and risk prioritisation

Risk evaluation is the second step to assess the relative impact
and likelihood of the identified key risk factors. These identified
key risk factors are further assessed by a scale rating process by
the department heads to evaluate their impact and likelihood. The
scale rating process is further supported by face-to-face meeting
with the department heads to assess the rationales of these
identified key risk factors behind.

Risk prioritisation is a mapping exercise. A risk map is used to
prioritise the identified key risk factors according to their impact
and likelihood.

Risk reporting, managing and monitoring

Risk reporting and risk monitoring are essential and integral parts
of risk management. A risk assessment report was submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board. Department heads reviewed
and assessed the adequacy of existing controls in accordance
with the Board’s advice and suggestions, and determined and
implemented treatment plans where risk mitigation are actionable
and continuously monitored the development of current risks and
the emergence of new risks. The risk inventory report update is a
continuous work and the Group will update the risk inventory after
each annual review.

Handling and dissemination of inside
information

The handling and dissemination of inside information of the
Company is strictly controlled and remains confidential including
but not limited by the following ways:

1. Restrict access to inside information to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis;

2. Reminder to employees who are in possession of inside
information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality;

3.  Ensure appropriate confidentiality agreements are in place
when the Company enters into significant negotiations or

dealings with third party; and

4, Inside information is handled and communicated by
designated persons to outside third party.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERKRE (H)

The Board and the senior management review the safety measures
regularly to ensure inside information is properly handled and
disseminated.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY AND
ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group has formulated policy on whistle-blowing and
anti-corruption to handle advices and complaints from the
employees. Details of which will be set out in the ESG Report.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

Recognising the importance of maintaining on-going
communication with shareholders, the Board established a
shareholders’ communication policy on 24 August 2018 and
reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. The
Board has conducted the annual review of the implementation
and effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy of
the Company, and with the above measures in place, concluded
that the policy was implemented effectively during the year. To
facilitate the timely, transparent and effective communication
with shareholders, the Board provides different communication
channels for shareholders and investors as follows:

° Corporate communications such as annual reports, quarterly
reports, interim reports, ESG reports, circulars, annual
general meeting and other general meeting that may be
convened are issued in printed form and are available on
the Stock Exchange’s website www.hkexnews.hk and the
Company’s website www.wanleader.com;

° A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is available on the
Company’s website. Information on the Company’s website
is updated on a regular basis;

° Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange

is also posted on the Company’s website immediately
thereafter;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

o All presentation materials provided in conjunction with the
Company’s annual general meeting and/or extraordinary
general meeting (if any) and results announcement each year
will be made available on the Company’s website as soon as
practicable after their release;

° All press release, newsletter, market consultations,
submissions and tender notices etc. issued by the Company
or its subsidiaries will be made available on the Company’s
website;

° Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at
meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable to attend
the meetings;

° Appropriate arrangements for the annual general meetings
and/or extraordinary general meeting (if any) shall be in place
to encourage shareholders’ participation;

° The process of the Company’s general meeting will be
monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and, if necessary,
changes will be made to ensure that shareholders’ needs are
best served;

° Board members, in particular, either the chairmen or
deputy chairmen of Board committees or their delegates,
appropriate management executives and external auditors
will attend annual general meetings to answer shareholders’
questions; and

° Shareholders are encouraged to attend shareholders’
activities organised by the Company, where information
about the Company, including its latest strategic plan,
products and services etc. will be communicated.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TRERKRE (H)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meeting

Shareholders holdings, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If the
Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists,
or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting.

The requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the registered
office of the Company, and may consist of several documents in
like form each signed by one or more requisitionists.

Any reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists by reason
of the failure of the Directors to duly convene a meeting shall be
repaid to the requisitionists by the Company, and any sum so
repaid shall be retained by the Company out of any sums due
or to become due from the Company by way of fees or other
remuneration in respect of their services to such Directors as were
in default.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Enquiries can be put to the Board through the company secretary
of the Company at Office Tower Unit 903, Hutchison Logistics
Centre, Terminal 4, Kwai Chung Container Port, 18 Container Port
Road South, Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong or email to
irwl@wanleader.com.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The
company secretary reports to the Chairman and the chief
executive officer. From time to time, the company secretary
advises the Board on governance matters and ensures the board
procedures, applicable law, rules and regulations are followed.

Mr. KH Wong has appointed as the company secretary of the
Company. During the Year, Mr. KH Wong has complied with the
relevant training requirement under Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The biographical details of Mr. KH Wong are set out in the
section headed “Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies”
of this Annual Report.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

In view of Mr Zhang Pangfei’s retirement as an executive Director
of the Company with effect from 23 September 2024 and following
the amendments to the GEM Listing Rules which took effect from
1 January 2024, the Company is no longer required to appoint
a compliance officer under the GEM Listing Rules. As such, the
Board has resolved to cancel the position of Compliance Officer
following the retirement of Mr. Zhang Pangfei.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no changes to
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company. The
latest version of the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

LANGUAGE

If there is any inconsistency between the English version of this
Annual Report and the Chinese translation of this Annual Report,
the English version of this Annual Report shall prevail.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Directors are pleased to present this Directors’ Report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2025
(the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and
the principal activities of its subsidiaries include provision of freight
forwarding and related logistics services, provision of entrusted
management services for operating an online e-commerce
platform and trading of fashion items. Details of activities of these
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by operating
segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required pursuant
to Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), together with a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Company, particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
Previous Year as well as indication of likely future development
in the business of the Group are set out in the sections headed
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this Annual Report respectively. An analysis using
financial key performance indicators, a discussion on the Group’s
environmental policies and performance, and its compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group as well as an account of the key relationships with
its stakeholders are contained in “Five Year Financial Summary”
on page 205 to 206, “Segment Information” on pages 136 to
141, “Environmental Policies and Performance” on page 18, ESG
Report, and “Major Customers and Suppliers” of this Directors’
Report respectively. The above discussions form part of this
Directors’ Report.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties

There are certain risks involved in the Group’s operations
and many of which are beyond the Group’s control. Some of
the relatively material risks include (i) outbreak of any severe
communicable disease, in particular coronavirus COVID-19,
if uncontrolled; (ii) cash flow may deteriorate due to potential
mismatch in time between receipt of payments from the customers
and payment to the suppliers, the Group’s cash flow position may
result in a material adverse position; (iii) the Group is exposed to
risk related to exchange rate fluctuations, particularly with respect
to the USD; (iv) loss of major customers; and (v) market sharing
erosion and diminishing profit margin. The freight forwarding
industry that the Group is operating in is highly sensitive to
market competition, global and local economic conditions, market
demands for the services, the fuel prices and other cost of
services. The Group may suffer a low or even negative net profit
margin due to decrease in turnover and/or relatively high operating
costs, should the global economy deteriorate and/or become
more unstable.

In addition, various financial risks have been disclosed in note 32
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 80 of this Annual Report.

DIVIDEND
The Board did not recommend final dividend for the Year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out in the section headed “Five Year
Financial Summary” on page 205 to 206 of this Annual Report.
This summary does not form part of the consolidated financial
statements.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEEHE (A)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DONATION

Charitable donation made by the Group during the Year amounted
to approximately HK$10,000 (during the year ended 31 March
2024: HK$10,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during
the Year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the Year are set out in page 83 of this Annual
Report and note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2025, there is no reserve of the Company available
for distribution to shareholders under the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands (at 31 March 2024 nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being
the jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis
to existing shareholders.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company who held office during the Year and
up to the date of this Annual Report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Pangfei (retired on 23 September 2024)

Ms. Wu Yushan (retired on 23 September 2024)

Mr. Yan Ximao (resigned on 30 December 2024)
Ms. Qu Tianyun

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Shiu Tong Andrew (appointed on 30 December 2024)

Mr. Yau Tung Shing (appointed on 30 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (resigned on 30 December 2024)

Mr. Chow Chi Wing
Mr. Liao Donggiang (resigned on 22 August 2024)

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (appointed on 22 August 2024 and
retired on 23 September 2024)

Mr. Tam Chi Ming George (appointed on 9 October 2024)

Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent (appointed on 9 October 2024)
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEEHE (A)

In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple
of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and will be eligible for re-election and
re-appointment at every annual general meeting, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
every three years. In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles,
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office until the first general meeting after his appointment
and any Director appointed as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company after his appointment, and each of them shall then be
eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas, Mr. Li Shiu Tong Andrew,
Mr. Yau Tung Shing, Mr. Tam Chi Ming George and Mr. Wan San
Fai Vincent will hold office as the Directors until the AGM and will
offer themselves for re-election.

The biographical details of the Directors of the Company and
the senior management of the Group are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies” of this
Annual Report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company received annual confirmation from all independent
non-executive Directors of their independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considered all
the independent non-executive Directors as independent at the
date of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The remuneration packages of all executive Directors, non-
executive Directors and senior management are determined by the
Remuneration Committee. Also, the remuneration of independent
non-executive Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee to the Board. The remuneration packages are subject
to comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in the Group
and desirability of performance-based remuneration.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in
Hong Kong.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary which operate in the
People’s Republic of China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.

Other than the above, the Group has not operated any other
retirement benefit schemes for its employees. Particulars of the
retirement benefit schemes are set out in notes 3, 13, 29 and 30
to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Directors
has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an
initial term of three years and continuing thereafter until terminated
by either party by giving a written notice to the other. For the year
ended 31 March 2025, none of the directors of the Company had
a service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date or appointment date.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company’s business were entered into or existed
during the Year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

EEEHE (A)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director of the Company had material interests, whether
direct or indirect, subsisted during or at the end of the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company is or was interested
in any business apart from the Group’s business, that competes
or competed or is or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the Group’s business at any time during the Year
and up to the date of this Directors’ Report.

A deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-competition”) was
executed in favour of the Company by Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas
and Mr. Loy Hak Moon regarding certain non-competition
undertakings. The details of the Deed of Non-competition have
been disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders”.

Each of the Substantial Shareholders has given an annual
declaration to the Company confirming that they have complied
with the non-compete undertakings to the Company under
the Deed of Non-competition. The independent non-executive
Directors have reviewed the compliance with the Deed
of Non-competition and are satisfied that the Substantial
Shareholders have complied with the provisions of the Deed of
Non-competition during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company during the Year or subsisted at the end of the Year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Directors and other officers of the Company shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all losses or liabilities which he
may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his
office or otherwise in relation thereto pursuant to the Company’s
Articles of Association.

The Group has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
throughout the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
AND ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

At 31 March 2025, the following Director and chief executive of the
Company (the “Chief Executive”) had the following interests and
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and/or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the GEM Listing Rules:

() Long positions in shares of the Company:
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() E2ARDZEFR:

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Name of Director/ Capacity/ Interest in issued share
Chief Executive Nature of interests Shares capital
-9 ERARERITRA
BEaiTBRABKE 5 RHHE RGO 2 ZHMRBED
Mr. Liao Daichun Beneficial owner (Note 1) 13,025,000 8.70%
BRE&ELSE EREAA (M)
Ms. Qu Tianyun (‘Ms. Qu”) Interest in a controlled corporation 12,000,000 8.01%
(Note 2)
RR="ZT((Ert]) XEEE R (Fi52)
Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas Interest in a controlled corporation 200 0.01%
(“Mr. Thomas Loy”) (Note 3)
AaREAFE((BREXE]) i rE R (ME3)
A™
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EEEHE (A)

(i)

Long positions in shares of associated corporations: HEEZEROZHAE :
Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s
Name of associated Capacity/ Interest in issued share
Name of Director corporation Nature of interests shares capital
RN
BRTRA
EEHE B EE BB 517 @t E R Dz ZBNBEDH
Ms. Qu Tianyun Hongkong ZCFT Beneficial owner (Note 2) 12,000,000 8.01%
International Limited
(“ZCFT”) (Note 2)
RRELTL Hongkong ZCFT EnlEAa A (HE2)
International Limited
([ZCFT]) (PH3E2)
Mr. Thomas Loy Ho Tat Limited Beneficial owner (Note 3) 200 0.01%
(“Ho Tat”) (Note 3)
ARERE SEARLNA EmEAA (MEE3)
(Tx&)) (Ft3E3)

Notes: M3 -

1. Mr. Liao Daichun has been the chief executive officer with effect 1. BREXEBZZE-—FENA=-1+H
from 20 August 2021. FABITEER -

2. ZCFT is wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Qu. By virtue of the 2. ZCFTRRZT2ENREREA - R
SFO, Ms. Qu is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by EEARBEEN  EL4tw R AR
ZCFT. ZCFTHFHAM RN A HEEER -

3. Ho Tat is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Thomas Loy. By 3. RERARRELELEARESHESR -

virtue of the SFO, Mr. Thomas Loy is deemed to be interested in
all the Shares held by Ho Tat.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Save as disclosed above and below under the section
headed “Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures”,
at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors or the Chief
Executive and/or any of their respective associates had any
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and/or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO or the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the
Year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in the Company or any other
body corporate.

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the
Year the Directors and the Chief Executive (including their spouses
and children under 18 years of age) had any interest in, or been
granted or exercised, any rights to subscribe for the shares (or
warrants or debentures, as applicable) of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

To the best knowledge of the Directors, at 31 March 2025, the
substantial shareholders of the Company had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would be required to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO as follows:
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EEEHE (A)

Number of
Shares held/ Approximate
Capacity/ interested percentage of
Name nature of interests (Note 4) shareholding
i HERER
Ligvig 4=
HE &8 B REmtE (ffst4) BREBHBDSL
Mr. Liao Daichun Beneficial owner (Note 1) 13,025,000 (L) 8.70%
BR&EXE EmlA A (WE1)
Ms. Zhao Rongjing Interest of spouse (Note 2) 13,025,000 (L) 8.70%
S il @i (FsE2)
Ms. Qu Tianyun Beneficial owner, interest in a 12,000,000 (L) 8.01%
controlled corporation (Note 3)
RRERT ERMBA - XEEEEZ (MF3)
Hongkong ZCFT Beneficial owner (Note 3) 12,000,000 (L) 8.01%

International Limited

B A A (HEE3)
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

Notes:

1. Mr Liao Daichun has been the chief executive officer with effect from 20
August 2021.

2. Ms. Zhao Rongjing is the spouse of Mr. Liao Daichun, and is deemed
to be interested in the shares which are interested by Mr. Liao Daichun
under the SFO.

3. Hongkong ZCFT International Limited (a company 100% controlled by
Ms. Qu) is interested in 12,000,000 Shares. Accordingly, Ms. Qu is
deemed to be interested in 12,000,000 Shares owned by Hongkong
ZCFT International Limited by virtue of Part XV of the SFO.

4. The letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2025, the Directors are
not aware of any interests and short positions owned by the chief
executive of the Company, or any other parties. No person, other
than the Directors, whose interests are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company and Any Associated Corporations” above, had
registered an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a Share Option Scheme on 14 August
2018. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise
the contribution of, and to provide an incentive to, key staff of
the Group who have contributed or will contribute to the Group
in order to motivate and retain them for the operation and
development of the Group. Further details of the Share Option
Scheme are disclosed in the section headed “Statutory and
General Information — D. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of
the Prospectus.
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EEEHE (A)

As at the date of this Directors’ Report, the number of shares
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme in respect
thereof is 8,400,000 shares, representing approximately 5.6% of
the issued shares of the Company.

Up to the date of this Directors’ Report, no share option has been
granted, exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option
Scheme and there were no outstanding share options under the
Share Option Scheme at 31 March 2025 and at the date of this
Directors’ Report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
OR TREASURY SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the Year (including sale of treasury shares (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules)).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group
in its normal course of business are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report. For the
related party transaction which constituted connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions under the GEM Listing
Rules, they are set out in the paragraph headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” of this
report. It has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” below,
there was no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s
business between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the
substantial shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND
CONTINUED CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The related party transactions disclosed in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements are either exempted or
non-exempted continuing connected transactions or connected
transactions which have complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, or not
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

CHANGE IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

The Company is not aware of any other changes in the directors’
information which are required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules since the publication of annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2024 of the Company.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 57.5% (Previous Year: 53.3%) of the total turnover
(including continuing and discontinued operations) during the Year
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to
approximately 24.2% (Previous Year: 18.3%).
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EEEHE (A)

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 77.8% (Previous Year: 72.4%) of the total
purchases (including continuing and discontinued operations)
during the Year and purchases from the largest supplier included
therein amounted to approximately 46.7% (Previous Year: 21.5%).

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
shareholders, which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital, had any
beneficial interest in the share capital of any of the first five largest
customers and suppliers of the Group.

CHANGE OF PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR

As of 31 December 2024, the principal share registrar and transfer
office and the registered office of the Company in the Cayman
Islands have been changed to:

Vistra (Cayman) Limited, P.O. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman
KY1-1205, Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company at the date of this
Directors’ Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the GEM Listing Rules from 1 April 2024 to the
date of this Directors’ Report.

EVENT AFTER THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2025

The Group did not have any significant event after the Year and
up to the date of this Annual Report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.
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Directors’ Report (Continued)

AUDITOR

Following the resignation of JH CPA Alliance Limited (“JH CPA”)
as auditors of the Company on 14 April 2025, SFAI (HK) CPA
Limited (“SFAI Hongkong”) was appointed as the auditors of the
Company by the Board with effect from 14 April 2025 to fill in
the vacancy following the resignation of JH CPA. The Board had
confirmed that there were no other matters or circumstances in
respect of such change of auditors that need to be brought to the
attention of the Shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes in auditors
of the Company during the preceding year.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2025 have been audited by SFAI Hongkong who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution for the re-appointment of SFAl Hongkong as auditors
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Loy Hak Yu Thomas
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RS TR

TO THE MEMBERS OF WAN LEADER INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wan
Leader International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to
204, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

74 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2024 — 2025

HEBEERABR QAR
(R SHEZMEALA BRI F)

=R
REHE (A THEIES) BB %H

REBOE204E BB ERBE AR AR (&
A RENBAR (GBIEEE]) &

HAEMBRE EBER-_ZFT_AF=A
=T HNEEMBRARAREBEEZA L
FENGEREREEMEEKER - 45

AMABDERGAR
B 7% 9 % M T 3 (3
RAEMBEER) -

i//m%i%lf/(&ﬁ =
BEXREGAHEEHN

HEE%E‘ , E/Z

B F R HAVBHRERCRESTE
SR ([BESMAE]) BHMNE
aﬁaﬁ%#&%ﬁﬁﬂ‘l(f% MBHmEEL]) R
EMAFiaRR EXRER-_T_AF=
A=+t - BMREMBIRAREBEZ
BIEFENGEMBRARGERERE -
VTERREERBGINEESRTZ SR

2l o

RREXE

EME*ETF%?/EE.nJrEﬂi’“A%EﬁEE’J%/%%
AHEA ([BEREA]) ETES -

EZFEATHEEER le&iﬁ?%lﬁﬁi
IEGEMBBRRARKENTRET] — &
i — *EQMWETFE/%QJEW“AQE%

WEXeAAEZTFA ([F8)]) -

IR BEEE- IEJ@ﬂ—rﬁlJﬁPE’Jﬁﬁﬁ
XEEHEE- %I“WW* EMESNE
FHRERET R KB ZEMERREMH
%E"

LU ===

m"



Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

B B R E (F)

B ERT SR

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional EEEAFZTEABEEENZEHE 7
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the A¥WAKEEEGEETBERERONEATAEE
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These HWEE - ZEEFTERNEEETEBEESE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the BRHELTHESEEBRE MEEZT oY
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our ZE=HREEBIHER

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Estimation of expected credit loss (“ECL”) allowances on EBZEWFRENFHEREEESE ((FBEHEE

trade receivables

The key audit matter
BRETEE

B BEA T

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EENETNMNEEZSEER

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 March 2025 - the Group has
trade receivables, net of allowances for impairment
loss under expected credit loss model of approximately
HK$31,779,000.

BN GE AV BERRMFIAHEE RS -_HAF=A
=+—H ' E5BEESEKFE(NMEREREEBEE
HIE TR EE B ME) #/31,779,000% 7T °

At end of each reporting period, in determining the
ECL allowance in trade receivables, the management
assesses whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk for exposures since initial recognition by
comparing the risk of default occurring over the expected
life between the reporting date and the date of initial
recognition. The management considers reasonably
supportable information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort for this purpose. This
includes quantitative and qualitative information, and
forward-looking analysis.

REBRSHEAR RETEHFRRFENTEHREEEE
BN EEESANEMmERHENMERRHZE
MR FHAELENEQRR - 5FE 8 MR ERARE
ERRECHREEM EEEMRLEEEEBREBAND
BERARE NAAEGHN BN ZER - WBEEES
KM B FHA R ATHE D AT o

We identified the allowance for ECL of trade receivables
as a key audit matter due to significance balance of
trade receivable to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as a whole and significant management
judgement involved in identification and measurement of
the allowance for expected credit losses.
EERESRRRBENTEHREEEERERNAARS
FEIE DERESRKRIBELEHRYE EXKENLGRSH
BREBEBMEBEN  UEHKFTEEHEEEE
Bl M BENEIREH A -

A
= e

Our audit procedures in relation to estimation of ECL
allowances on trade receivables included, among
others, the following:
EEREHRRFIBFAPEEFRRBERT 2ER
BraE(EPaE) A TEIE :

o To understand the approach applied on the
ECL model of trade receivables;
THRERNESRWFERHREEBRERIAN
FE

° To assess management’s basis and judgement
in determining the appropriateness of
management’s assumptions and input applied
on the ECL model, including past settlement
records of the customers and the Group’s
actual loss experience;
AEEREEETERANERCEEEREANE
B RERER LW ARIE TS #EE /A% KA -
BREREFHNBEEELCER EEENERE
B

° To review the ageing of trade receivables on
sample basis; and
RMEELENE SR IWKIENRE &

o To review the subsequent settlement of trade
receivables on sample basis.
EHEELEENEHRINHIENIRELESR -
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B2 EAERE (&)

Other Matter

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2024, were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 28 June
2024.

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors of the
Company and Audit Committee for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors of the Company
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Responsibilities of the Directors of the
Company and Audit Committee for the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

B2 EAERE (&)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control;

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control,

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company;

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s
directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern;

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation; and
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

° Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. Chow Ka Li.

SFAI (HK) CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Chow Ka Li

Practising Certificate Number: PO7809

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

melEaRkAEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

2025 2024
—E-HE —EMF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FHET FAIT
Revenue W = 6 157,584 187,193
Cost of sales and services HE NRBK AR (155,360) (182,555)
Gross profit EF 2,224 4,638
Other income, other gains and Ha A~ bl &
losses, net B 1B F & 7 (1,388) 378
Sales and marketing expenses HEREHEMAS (3,527) (5,998)
Administrative expenses THHRAX (22,693) (23,364)
Impairment losses under expected credit FEHZ EEEER THRIE
loss model, net of reversal BB (EMBRERERHD) 8 (264) (304)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR Z WS 34 1,879 -
Finance costs & A 9 (1,363) (101)
Loss before income tax BRATER AT E 18 10 (25,132) (24,751)
Income tax (expenses) credit Frisii (X)) e 11 (81) 80
Loss for the year FREBR (25,213) (24,671)
Other comprehensive income FRHEMEZEKBA (BAX) :
(expense) for the year:
Items that may be reclassified BEERREEF D E B a
subsequently to profit or loss: mIEH -
Exchange differences arising on FSELACRSENS 3 g i E il
translation of financial statements of EEZEREZE
foreign operations 20 (102)
Reclassification of statutory reserve and HEWBATBET D EETE
cumulative exchange reserve upon HER R ELFEE
disposal of subsidiaries 34 (107) -
(87) (102)
Total comprehensive expense for AAAERBEEAERLERE
the year attributable to equity HB &%
holders of the Company (25,300) (24,773)
HK cents HK cents
Al B
(restated)
(&eE3)
Loss per share attributable to equity AR ERIZTE AEW
holders of the Company BREE 15
Basic and diluted BEARR#EE (20.2) (21.6)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
fra MR R &

RZZE-—RF=RA=+—H

As at 31 March 2025

2025 2024
—E-HE —E-F
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
B 2 FE T Tt
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - B KRG 16 651 8,878
Deposits b gea 19 85 8
Deferred tax assets RIEFTEEE 17 58 148
794 S5
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 18 - 432
Trade and other receivables, deposits B 5K HE M ERERIE
and prepayments e RIENFIE 19 55,655 68,207
Amount due from a related company JE Uk — R B8 38 2 R 3B 20 - 1,901
Pledged bank deposits EEBIRITE K 21 - 3,017
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LR 21 15,511 14,823
71,166 88,380
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B MHEMENRIE 22 25,401 29,941
Contract liabilities AEHMEE 23 - 323
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 152 486
Bank and other borrowings BITREMERK 25 9,099 756
Tax payables FERT B IR - 1,267
34,652 32,773
Net current assets RBEEEE 36,514 55,607
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAER 37,308 59,138
[\ N
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e BRI R (&)

As at 31 March 2025 R-_ZT-_AF=A=+—H

2025 2024
—E-HE —E-MF
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
B 2 FE T Tt
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 24 66 353
Provisions B 15 26 150 100
Other payables H b fE N 58 22 516 =
732 453
Net assets EEZEE 36,576 58,685
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital R& X 27 14,974 12,478
Reserves EE] 21,602 46,207
Equity attributable to equity holders Z&ARQ TRERFITH AEL
of the Company R 36,576 58,685

The consolidated financial statements from pages 80 to 204 were ZTEZ@NR -—_E-_RESXA=+HHLAERE
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30  # FI| 3£ 580 8B & F204 B f & 43 & 8 7 1|

June 2025: x:
Loy Hak Yu Thomas Li Shiu Tong Andrew
ARE FRR
Chairman Director
T BEE

Ly ‘
) i §
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REERBBXR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 EZ_ZT_AF=A=+—HIFE
Share Share Other Merger Statutory Exchange Accumulated Total
capital premium* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* losses* equity
B R RE Hib e AR EE R HERE RitEE aEs
(Note (i) (Note (i) (Note (iii) (Note (iv) (Note (v)
below) below) below) below) below)
(RTFX (RTX (RTFX (RTFX (RTX
HE&EG)) & i) it (i) Kt & (iv) H&E(v)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TR T TET THET T TET
Balance at 1 April 2023 RZZEZ=FMmA—-H
e 9,900 75,252 14,118 1,001 357 (168) (38,836) 61714
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (24,671) (24,671)
Other comprehensive expense FARMEART
for the year:
Exchange differences arising on RBEGIHNERZ
translation of financial statements ~ M BHEMEL 2
of foreign operations EHER - - - - - (102) - (102)
Total comprehensive expense FREERXEE
for the year - - - - - (102) (24,671) (24,773)
Proceeds from placing of new shares it & %ﬁﬁ”’\ﬁﬂ?f% 2,578 19,934 - - - - - 22,512
Issuing expenses of placing of new EE#R D 2 %7 X
shares - (768) - - - - - (768)
Balance at 31 March 2024 and 1 H-ZE_ME=A
April 2024 =+-HR-2-Mm
FWA—-Bz#&H% 12,478 94,418 14,118 1,091 357 (270) (63,507 58,685
Loss for the year FRER - - - = = = (25,213) (25,213)
Other comprehensive expense FARMEART
for the year:
Exchange differences arisingon ~ RAZ G ER 2 8%
translation of financial statements ~ HEMEL 2 E X Z
of foreign operations #® - - - - - 20 - 20
Reclassification of statutory reserve HEMBLARBEH D
and cumulative translation reserve 48 G {6 i 25t
upon disposal of subsidiaries SLEE - - - - (357) 250 - (107)
Total comprehensive expense for ~ FRZ AR X B4
the year - - - - (357) 270 (25,213) (25,300)
Proceeds from placing of new shares it & # & {3 5 30 8 2,496 923 - - - - - 3,419
Issuing expenses of placing of new EE#R D 2 %7 X
shares - (228) - - - - - (228)
Balance at 31 March 2025 RZZE-HF=f
St-HzE% 14,974 95,113 14,118 1,001 = = (88,720) 36,576

financial position.

AS
U"oq'

The reserves amount comprises the Group’s reserves of approximately
HK$21,602,000 (2024: HK$46,207,000) in the consolidated statement of

* HESELERAEERGAVBERRERF
B 7% 18 £921,602,0008 T (Z T =1 4 :
46,207,000 7T) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
RERERBER ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT_-—_AF=A=+—HItFE

Notes:

(i

(il)

(iv)

The share premium represents the difference between the par value of
the shares of the Company and net proceeds received from the issuance
of the shares of the Company.

The other reserve represents (i) deemed contribution by a non-controlling
shareholder through acquisition of Orient Zen Logistics Services Limited
(“Orient Zen”); (i) acquisition of additional interest of Orient Zen and (iii)
allotment of shares of Ever Metro International Limited (“Ever Metro”) to
strategic investors.

The merger reserve represents difference between the par value of the
shares issued by Ever Metro for the combination of the entire equity
interests in Union Air Cargo Limited (“Union Air’) and the amount of
share capital of Union Air. The combination of Union Air by Ever Metro
have been accounted for using the principles of merger accounting as
Union Air and Ever Metro are under the common control of Mr. Loy Hak
Yu Thomas both before and after the combination and the control is not
transitory.

The statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit
for the year of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) (based on the subsidiaries’ PRC statutory financial
statements) in accordance with the relevant PRC laws until the statutory
reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the subsidiaries. The
statutory reserve cannot be reduced except either in setting off the
accumulated losses or increasing capital. The reserve are reversed upon
disposal of subsidiaries.

The exchange reserve represents the exchange differences arising on
translation of financial statements of foreign operations.
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HibFE BB BFERRREBKER
BYRBERAB (RE]) WRMETE (i)
WERENBEIINMESR RN EHBRESE
fid ZEver Metro International Limited ([Ever
Metrol) 8915 °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &#HZE—ZE-—H&=A=+—HItFE

2025 2024
—E-TRE —E-MF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET TR
Cash flow from operating activities RETHAENHRERE
Loss before income tax BRATSHAIEE (25,132) (24,751)
Adjustments for: THEH T
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  ¥% - BiE RSB EITE 1,349 1,791
Loss on write off of inventories MEFE BB = 115
Impairment losses under expected credit loss BHEEEERAETRERSE
model, net of reversal B ¥ 264 304
Loss on written-off and disposal of property, WEkEEME BEREEZ
plant and equipment BB 1,460 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBAR 2 WS (1,879) -
Interest income F WA (75) (221)
Finance costs BE R A 1,363 101
Operating cash flow before movements in EEESRBANKERHERE
working capital (22,650) (22,661)
Changes in inventories Fe# 432 36
Changes in trade and other receivables, deposits & 5 & H U IS « &4 RTEff
and prepayments RBEE 8,419 (22,163)
Changes in trade and other payables B 5 R E M R E 2,860 10,430
Changes in contract liabilities ARBEED (323) (61)
Changes in amount due from a related company &k — I B:E A T HIEE B (282) 1,048
Cash used in operations REFTABRE (11,544) (33,371)
Income tax refunded EREIMER - 1,179
Net cash used in operating activities RETHIARSTFE (11,544) (32,192)
Cash flow from investing activities RETEHFMENHEERE
Bank interest received BEUIRITH B 75 220
Placement of pledged bank deposits FHRE EFRITFER - (19)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits RMEEARITER 3,017 -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE BELEE - (1,920)
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARBE SR L T8 (10) -
Net cash from (used) in investing activites REFEME (B BELEE 3,082 (1,715)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

GERTRERE)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HE_—Z-_AF=A=1+—HIFE

2025 2024
—E-TRE —ZET-MF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET TR
Cash flow from financing activities METHRENEESRE
Repayment of principal element of lease liabilites {87 & & &A% 217 (923) (660)
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BEFITRAMER (5,756) (914)
Repayment of interest element of lease liabilities EEHE & EF 8 57 (52) (41)
Other interest paid BEREMmFE (1,212) (60)
Proceeds for issue of shares, net BT T B RIE R EE 3,191 21,744
Proceeds from other borrowings H b & B 1508 14,000 -
(Repayment) borrowings drawn down included in (&%) 12 EU{E 2 (51 A E f i 5 7008
other payables, net FEE) (86) 2,939
Net cash generated from financing activities REEEMENR L EE 9,162 23,008
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash ReRREFEMEMORD) F8
equivalents 700 (10,899)
Cash and cash equivalent at beginning FHNRERBEESZEEY
of the year 14,823 25,733
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERFEHEL2FE (12) (11)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, F R B &R RELZEEY -
Represented by bank balances and cash ERITAEERE % 15,511 14,823
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A AR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Wan Leader International Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares were listed on
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the Corporate Information section to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in provision of freight
forwarding and related logistics services, provision of
entrusted management services for operating an online
e-commerce platform and trading of fashion items.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”) which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

The English names of all the companies established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) presented in these
consolidated financial statements represent the best efforts
made by the directors of the Company for the translation of
the Chinese names of these companies to English names as
they do not have official English names.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ER#HIIRRIETEBNH
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FRWMEER ([FB B ER
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS X8 ) REMBESHE
(“HKFRS(s)”) AND CHANGES IN % 5

OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Amendments to HKFRSs that are FA 7S 6 JZ o ) A5 S Y RS 5T
mandatorily effective for the current year EBMBHREAER
In the current year, the Group has applied the following MNAEE  REBCDHEXAERBEESE
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong extfmioe((FEEestmae])Bm
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for BR-ZZ-WFMA—HRBHAE
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s [E 4 [E B R ok ol A R DA N 3 ET o &
annual period beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation B EEMBREER - NRERES
of the consolidated financial statements: BrrS Rk ¢
Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and EHEMERELER SR HAOP A
Leaseback g165% (25T XR) EBE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities EB @R BESEARY
as Current or Non-current ERLACCHIFN) s IE R B R AR
and related amendments to BEARES
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 59% (1851 &)
(2020) (ZZT=_TF)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with EB ezt Ffy #2258 2 IER
Covenants F15% (IBETA) EN= N
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance EXBSHEAET HEFHRELHE
HKFRS 7 Arrangements 5% KBS MR
EEBIETH (B
HEN)
The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current MAREEREAREI EBMEREE
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial A EEAREBRNENRBAEFEYN
positions and performance for the current and prior years BN RRIARE L E5E 0%
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated MERFMENOEBELETATE o

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)”) AND CHANGES IN
OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

Amendment to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instructments®

Amendment to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 11°

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

Statements’
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the application of the amendments to HKFRSs
is not expected to have material impact to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in the future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND

AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)”) AND CHANGES IN
OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements (“HKFRS 18”), which sets out requirements
on presentation and disclosures in financial statements,
will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
(“HKAS 17). This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while
carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1,
introduces new requirements to present specified categories
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information
to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors and HKFRS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (“HKAS 77).
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 and HKAS 33 Earnings Per
Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
HKFRS 18 is expected to affect the presentation of the
statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
consolidated financial statements but is not expected to
have material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
positions and performance. The Group is in the process of
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s
future consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CcO

NSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

3.1

AT

Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis at the end of each
reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value-in-use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in

active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &HZ - =

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated
financial statements (Continued)

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the accounting policies of the Group.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in note 4 below.

3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassess whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promise
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those services. Specifically, the Group

uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

° Step 1: Identifying the contract with a customer

° Step 2: Identifying the performance obligations

° Step 3: Determining the transaction price
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CcO

NSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

AT

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

° Step 4: Allocating the transaction price to the
performance obligations

° Step 5: Recognising revenue when/as
performance obligation(s) are satisfied

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
A performance obligation represents service (or a
bundle of services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

° The customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

° The Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

° The Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
service or goods.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining goods or services promised under the
contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in
transferring control of services.

96 Wan Leader International Limited Annual Report 2024 — 2025

Sl

&
o>
A8

IS4
ol ng
i

RN EHE
T E R @)

3.2 EXETHERER

BRI W R E P RS A ER
nE}ZEu@ET*%J%E’JHTFﬁEEﬁW °

EHEE

AEEEREBKEA - &L
BEEEPXNARERER -
i AN & B A E R RFRASE
) T 57 48 A Uk &5 AT M BB -
NERABENEE - EILIBR
™ - RIS R A e R YRR -

REEFHNE-—GHOME 2
JAﬁﬁéﬁﬁ&émﬁﬁﬁ
cENEHOME - THES
%Wé@ﬁ%&mﬂﬁﬁ\ﬁ
HHFBREEZT -

IR WA - 5T BT KB
HEEZER

ay

i A

TRENEEZEETNRES
HAF 8 BIREBERFEEL
éEi%%%ﬁZ%%E@ﬁ
BHETARRERZHTER
&%WTEW&?% K S
WHERERBRANEENEZE
RIGIEH T EZ BB

\ |



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CcO

NSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

AT

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation (Continued)

Output method (Continued)

The Group’s revenue from provision of freight
forwarding and related logistics services is recognised
over time when the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs, using output
method.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to
a customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Principal versus agent (Continued)

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided
by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

Further information about the Group’s accounting
policies relating to revenue from contracts with
customers is provided in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
Leases at inception of the contract. Such contract will
not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of
the contract are subsequently changed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For contracts that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone prices of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component and are accounted for by applying other
applicable standards.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets
(such as tablets and personal computers, small items
of office furniture and telephones). Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying
assets, restoring the site on which it is located
or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term upon
exercising purchase options, the cost of the relevant
right-of-use assets and the related accumulated
depreciation and impairment loss are transferred to
property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property,
plant and equipment”, which is the same line item
within the corresponding underlying assets would be
presented if they were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an
option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
It is remeasured to reflect any reassessment or lease
modification, or if there are changes in in-substance
fixed payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &HZ - =

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and make a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

° the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review, in which cases the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

° a lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease (see below for the accounting policy for
“lease modifications”).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability, less any lease incentives receivable, based on
the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CcO

NSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

AT

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of transactions are used. Exchanges differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational
basis over the useful lives of the related assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the
earlier of when the entity can no longer withdraw the
offer of the termination benefit and when the entity
recognises any related restructuring costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
(Continued)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be
made by the Group in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting from service cost,
interest and remeasurement are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that another HKFRS requires
or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/(loss) before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

108 wan Leader International Limited ~ Annual Report 2024 — 2025

3.2 EXETHEREHR @

RKENEA (E)

KRR B A < B fE B 78 | (&)

REMEHERENERNEA
BERASEENNEERER
= B EIAT IR AR 7% T 4F e 1
AARERERHWNBRETE -
R AR RCAS ~ B R B H AT
EEAMNAERESBRED
ABH BRIEREEAYBR
SEAUBERSIAFHERAR
B o

BiIR

P 15 ¢ 7 < 45 B 20 B4R FE T 15
BRI 2 #A0 o

RN RBANREAEENE
AR e A 5T & o JE R i A 2
BEiaTE A, (B18) BATR -
Th i A B At 5 JE 8 AR A Bk AT A
LU A P ST A R AR AR
FPAHHENERERS - KK
BHAMMREEETRAR &
SHARERMKNER LCHEM
MR EETHE -

\ |



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CcO

NSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

AT

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and
at the time of the transaction does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the
right-of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 Income Tax requirements to the
lease liabilities, and the related assets separately. The
Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax
liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use
assets) are tangible assets that are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress as described below). Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management, including costs of testing whether the
related assets is functioning properly and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation of
these assets, on the same basis as other property
assets, commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets of property, plant and equipment less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant
and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
including right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets is estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant
cash-generating unit when a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
including right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a
cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable
and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the
Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
including right-of-use assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that
are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of
cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash

flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a first-in first-out method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period,
taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows (where the effect of the time
value of money is material).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent
liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether
an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
has become probable. If it becomes probable that an
outflow of future economic benefits will be required for
an item previously dealt with as a contingent liability,
a provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model

whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except
for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CcO

NSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2

AT

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
including trade receivables and other receivables,
and contract assets which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)
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3.2 Material accounting policy information

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &HZ - =

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE - =

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(0

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if (i) the financial instrument has a low risk of
default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term, and (iiij adverse changes in economic
and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt asset to
have low credit risk when the asset has external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance
with the globally understood definition or if an
external rating is not available, the asset has an
internal rating of ‘performing’ under the Group’s
current credit risk grading framework.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &HZ - =

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.

(if) Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting
an event of default for internal credit risk
management purposes as historical experience
indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial
covenants by the debtor; or

° information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the
debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than one year past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)
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3.2 Material accounting policy information 3.2 ERGTBEER @)
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) SEIA (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets (i) FEEREEHEE
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or WEAE—TBRZIEEH S @
more events that have a detrimental impact on BEZMBTRARKREERE
the estimated future cash flows of that financial EETNEE 2 EMHE
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial ZemEEANHREER
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data BE-aRMEEFEREDN
about the following events: BEBEUNTEHNH
2 S
e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or o BITANBRALR
the borrower; BRI TN EE
e a breach of contract, such as a default or o ERAEH WMENK
past due event; B EA S
e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic . 7 BB FR A B IR A
or contractual reasons relating to the MK BELE LR
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted EBERABERA
to the borrower a concession(s) that the EMERARTER
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or ABRETEE RN
FFRE 3K
e it is becoming probable that the borrower o BERRAFIEEENE
will enter bankruptcy or other financial THMBKEAR -

reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &HZ - =

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade and other
receivables and contract assets are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past
due information and relevant credit information
such as forward-looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &HZ - =

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount with the exception
of trade and other receivables and contract
assets where the correspondence adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

The carrying amount of financial assets that are
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that
foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at the
end of each reporting period. Specifically:

For financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not part of a designated hedging relationship,
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss as
part of the net foreign exchange gains/(losses).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another party. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to
recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
The Group’s financial liabilities including trade and
other payables and amount due to a director are

subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a
foreign currency and are measured at amortised
cost at the end of each reporting period, the foreign
exchange gains and losses are determined based on
the amortised cost of the instruments. These foreign
exchange gains and losses are recognised in the
‘General and administrative expenses’ line item in profit
or loss as part of net foreign exchange gains/(losses)
for financial liabilities that are not part of a designated
hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts; and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors that make
strategic decisions.

Related parties
For the purposes of the consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to the
Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and if that person:
(i) has control or joint control of the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group.

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies:

()  the entity and the Group are members of
the same group.

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE - =

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING INFORMATION (continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party.

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

KEY SOURCES ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3.2 above, the directors of
the Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting
in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

4.

KEY SOURCES ESTIMATION
UNCERTAI NTY(Continued)

Estimated provision of ECL for trade
receivables

The Group assesses ECL for the trade receivables on a
collective basis. The provision rates are based on internal
credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that have
similar characteristics. The collective assessment is based on
the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration
default rates by external/internal credit agency (if any) and
forward-looking information and other information that is
reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. At every reporting date, the estimated loss rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered. Changes in these assumptions and
estimates could materially affect the result of the assessment
and it may be necessary to make additional impairment loss
to profit or loss.

At the end of the reporting period, the details of the carrying
amounts of trade receivables are set out in note 19.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue from provision of freight forwarding and
related logistics services and entrusted management service
for operating an online e-commerce platform is recognised
over time when the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs, using output method. Revenue from
trading of fashion items is recognised when the customer
obtains control of the distinct goods.

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker
(the “CODM”) of the Group, being Mr. Thomas Loy, an
executive director of the Group, for the purpose of resource
allocation and performance assessment focuses on the
different types of services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The CODM regularly review revenue and results analysis by (i)
provision of freight forwarding and related logistics services;
(i) entrusted management service for operating an online
e-commerce platform; and (iii) trading of fashion items.
No analysis of segment assets and segment liabilities are
presented as such information is not regularly provided to
the CODM in the current or prior years.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024,
the Group’s reporting segments are as follows:

() Freight Forwarding and Related Logistics Service, i.e.
provision of freight forwarding and related logistics
services;

(i) Entrusted Management Service for Operating an Online
E-commerce Platform; and

(i)  Trading of Fashion Items.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies as set out in note
3.2.

Segment result represents profit or loss before taxation from
each segment without allocation of certain other income,
certain central administrative expenses, finance costs
and impairment losses or reversal of impairment losses
recognised under expected credit loss model for trade and
other receivables and deposits and amount due from a
related party. This is the measure reported to the CODM
for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
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o2 E E @)

EEREBERARARNVREEERER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 9EER @)
(a) Revenue and results by reportable and (@) AIZHREEDFHW
operating segment m oy
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and UNTAREBIRAEHEED
results by reportable and operating segments. MEDKEFELEEKHI
mREEDN -
Entrusted
Management
Freight Service for
Forwarding Operating
and Related an Online Trading of
Logistics E-commerce Fashion
Service Platform Items Total
BEERET
EERER BETAN
HEWRERE ETEERE KEYRES @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThER FAT TAT TAT
Year ended 31 March 2025 HE-Z_RE=R
St-HLFE
Revenue 6
External revenue and segment revenue ONEDUSES T D BB MR 25 157,001 - 583 157,584
Result £
Segment loss AEHER (11,622) (2,618) (199) (14,439)
Other income, gains and losses, net HeplA - W R E#R
ek (989)
Corporate expenses PEEY (10,220)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARZ K& 1,879
Finance costs BEMA (1,363)
Loss before income tax BEGHANESR (25,132)
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-Z-m¥EZA
St-BLEE
Revenue g
External revenue and segment revenue SNBSS T 7 BB M A 175,546 - 11,647 187,193
Result &
Segment (loss) profit 2 (&18) 77 (16,456) (890) 2,489 (14,857)
Other income, gains and losses, net A BakEE
ek 462
Corporate expenses PERY (10,255)
Finance costs BERA (101)
Loss before income tax BREGEANES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

AT

5. 2 EPER @)

(b) Other information (b) Ht&ER
Entrusted
Management
Freight Service for
Forwarding Operating
and Related an Online Trading of
Logistics ~ E-commerce Fashion
Service Platform ltems  Unallocated Total
EERRET
EERER EETAH
BENRRE ZHEERE  BEHORES AOR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx T TR TR TERL
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-B-R%=R
St-ALEE
Amounts included in the measure of FAPHERZHE -
segment loss:
- Addition to non-current assets -FEERBDEE
(note belov) (AT - = = 352 352
- Depreciation of property, -0N% - BEREE
plant and equipment it (582) (239) - (528) (1,349)
- Impairment losses under expected -REEEERERAAT
credit loss model, net of reversal REFREDFE 79 - (343) - (264)
Amounts regularly provided to the chief FHEGTFREEERE
operating decision maker but not NETFAR T2
included in the measure of segment; AE
- Interest income -MEHA 3 1 2 1 1
- Finance costs -BERS (34) = - (1,329) (1,363)
- Income tax expense -HERAZ (29) - (45) (7) (81)
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-3-RmEZR
St-ALEE
Amounts included in the measure of JASTERZFE:
segment loss:
- Addition to non-current assets -RERRDEE
note below) (R h) = = = 1920 1,920
- Depreciation of property, -0 BERRE
plant and equipment e (752) (259) - (786) (1,791)
- Impairment losses under expected -RAEEBEEAET
credit loss model, net of reversal HEFREETE (97) 4 (11) = (304)
Amounts regularly provided to the chief FHERTREEERE
operating decision maker but not ANETFAZHZ
included in the measure of segment: FE
- Interest income -HEHA a7 - - 4 221
- Finance costs ~BARK (78) = = (23) (101)
- Income tax credlt -fiEhEg 37 = 45 () 80
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5. 9EER @)
(b) Other information (Continued) (b) H A& R @)
Note: Non-current assets excluded deferred tax assets. Addition s E RS EETRIBELENRE
of non-current assets during the years ended 31 March EE HE2_ZET_-_RAF=A
2025 and 31 March 2024 represented purchase of office —t+—HEZZT-_WF=A
equipment under property, plant and equipment and T+ HLEFERAENERY
addition of right-of-use assets. EEEDE BERKERT
BERLARBRABEREAE
BE -
(c) Geographic information (c) thEE R
The Group’s revenue from external customers AREBREBEZEMWEIRMET
by geographical market based on the location of BEIDKEINBEL AU
operations:
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZEOF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) & (sEf ) 157,584 187,193
Information about the Group’s non-current assets EAAEBIRIEEEME IR IR TS
(excluding deferred tax assets) by geographical market EPWIERBEE (TREELEFE
based on the location of assets: BE)ER
2025 2024
—E-REF —ET_MF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) E8 (M) 736 2,485
The PRC H - 898
736 3,383

WR| ‘ ‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5.

(d)

AT

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
are as follows:

o2 E E @)
d EETEZFWEER
NIEBEE  RABP MY

A &= B U E B RR10% A £ Y
AR

2025 2024
—E-REF —EJOF
HK$’°000 HK$’000
TE T FHET
Relating to Freight Forwarding and BREEENIENEREY R
Related Logistics Service segment %5 &0
— Customer A (note (i) below) —BPA(R T X)) 38,081 N/AT 3 FB
- Customer B (note (i) below) — & FB (R T3 M &) 16,935 N/A & FB
- Customer C (note (i) below) — 2= FBC (& SCB aEG) N/AF & H 34,303
— Customer D (note (i) below) — & FD (& T XM sk i) N/ATiE H 23,745
Notes: Bax -
Revenue derived from Customer A and B did not contribute BE-_EZ-_NME=A=+—HIEE -
over 10% of revenue during the year ended 31 March 2024. TEEFPANRBH U ZS I N5 K EE10%
LA L o
i Revenue derived from Customer C and D did not contribute ii. BHE_Z-_A&=A=+—RHItEE "
over 10% of revenue during the year ended 31 March 2025. ®ERPCERDE U I 5 K ZE10%
LA | o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6. EEEHWE

CUSTOMERS

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follow: REBARFEHWZEDTOT

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from (@ REEFEAREND
contracts with customers ik

The Group is mainly engaged in the provision of freight
forwarding and related logistics services, provision of
entrusted management services for operating an online
e-commerce platform and trading of fashion items.

(i) The Group derives revenue from the transfer
of goods and services by categorise of major
product lines and business

AEEFZRERHEEERE
NMEBYRRS RELERE
RETEBEIANZAEER
BARKRYRES o

() ~EERTEERENRZE
KENEEES R KRRE
EEUE

2025 2024
—E-EHF —EUF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAIT
Revenue from contracts with BB IR ERFE15%
customers within the scope of FIEIAN A EF & AWz
HKFRS 15
Disaggregate by reportable RUZEmH I -
segments:
Provision of freight forwarding and 2 &:EKE XBBY R
related logistics services Ak 7%
— Air freight — 728 156,880 170,549
— Sea freight —5iE 121 4,997
157,001 175,546
Trading of fashion items I 89 in & 583 11,647
157,584 187,193
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &HZ - =

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(@) Disaggregation of revenue from
contracts with customers (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

The Group derives revenue from the transfer
of goods and services by timing of revenue
recognition

During the year ended 31 March 2025, out of the
Group’s revenue from contracts with customers
within the scope of HKFRS 15, revenue amounted
to approximately HK157,001,000 (2024:
HK$175,546,000) was transferred at over time
and the remaining amount was transferred at a
point in time.

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of

“hAF=A=+—HLHFE

6. EEEHWEm

(a) EIE

(ii)

(iii)

E)I

BEFEHWEA
¥ (1)

iy

REEEBRWBER
BERE u&ﬁ&ﬁ%?iﬂﬁl

<

E‘I

HE-_ZT-_H%F=A
Zt+—HLEE A& H
REERB MRS EA
FISHBERNREF ALY
W25 & - 49157,001,000
B (Z T @ F
175,546,000 7T) #) I 25
PERFE R - e 58 AR
R o

rEBZRBEDSE K

goods and services by geographical markets BEERERBEHREENR
=

Information regarding the Group’s revenue ERHAEEEE TS E

from the transfer of goods and services by PHERE R EREEE

geographical markets is set out in note 5 above. W e E R R K R

5 o
(b) Contract balances (b) &R ER

As at

As at 31 March 1 April 2023

N—ZE =

R=A=+—H FMAH—H

Notes 2025 2024
izt Z—ZZB-ZHE —T M4

HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000

FET FET TAT

Trade receivables B 5 rEWIIE 32,286 33,309 20,709
Less: ECL allowances B FBEEEEE

B (507) (705) (396)

31,779 32,604 20,313

Contract liabilities aHaE - 323 384

Information regarding the trade receivables and EEBSERZERADEaBHER

AT

(4

contract liabilities are set out in respective notes.

N EMEE -

EBERRERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6. EEEHWEm
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(c) Performance obligations for contracts c) BEFEHNENEERIK
with customers and revenue EERBE

recognition policies

The Group is mainly engaged in the provision of freight
forwarding and related logistics services, provision of
entrusted management services for operating an online
e-commerce platform and trading of fashion items.

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the provision of services and
the use by others of the Group’s assets yielding interest
and dividend. Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and
costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and
when specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities.

The Group’s performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue and other income recognition
policies are as follows:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &HZ - =

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(c) Performance obligations for contracts

AT

(4

with customers and

revenue

recognition policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other
sources

(1)

Revenue from provision of freight forwarding
and related logistics service and entrusted
management services for operating an online
e-commerce platform

The Group derives revenue from (a) the provision
of freight forwarding and related logistics
services, which include reselling cargo space the
Group purchases from airlines, airlines’ general
sales agent(s), shipping liners and other freight
forwarders to direct shippers or respective freight
forwarders, which act on behalf of their shipper
customers and eventually deliver the goods to the
destinations; and (b) the provision of entrusted
management services for operating an online
e-commerce platform.

The Group’s revenue from provision of freight
forwarding and related logistics services is
recognised over time when the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs, using output method.

“hAF=A=+—HLHFE

6. EEEHWEm

(c)

REEFEHORHEMRIFEN Y
)
() FKEELEEREREH

EBERRERAR

RRFEAR EEERE
FEEFENZZEER
B 2z

N B g U= 2R B (a)1R
BEEREREBED R R
B ERBRREEARASHE
MMERA - MERQFH
RFENRE - BEQAAR
EMmEEREBMEEN
BHEMRM TEETLE AL
REETTEARPITED
EHEEERER L&KL
S EYZEE B B R(o)
RHEBEERETFHBF
BRI EERE -

EEFRAKEREOER
BEIXREARNEEED
Prie e Ml st - N B 2R
BRHEENRERERY
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH 6. EEEHWEm
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(c) Performance obligations for contracts (c) %)5
with customers and revenue e
recognition policies (Continued)

II’]]>

HENETRK
DIBUR ()

|
/

7

Revenue from contracts with customers and other KEEFEHNREMEFENK

sources (Continued) = (#)

(i) Sales of fashion items (i) Y EE
Sales are recognised when control of the HERE I G #EEE
products has transferred, being when the BRER NERE M
products are delivered to the customer, the FTRFE -RPHEEAES
customer has full discretion over the channel and EHBEITEZER
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect PEMEMMWRBITEE

the customer’s acceptance of the products.

Delivery occurs when the products have been EERCRNERE
delivered to the specific location, the risks of 2 SRR EEER L
obsolescence and loss have been transferred B¥FEF BEFERE
to the customer, and either the customer has HEANBEWRE R AE
accepted the products in accordance with BEERBETEEHEEFTA
the sales contract or the Group has objective BT A MR B {E
evidence that all criteria for acceptance have T e

been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based REZEHENWWRIBIE
on the price specified in the contract. No element BHPFTHNESER -
of financing is deemed present as the sales are BHREENREBEERE
made with the credit policies, which is consistent ET BEEERERFEM
with market practice. BRG] - BT ERER D o

A receivable is recognised when the goods are FEWRIBEBRNE R TEE
delivered as this is the point in time that the RRAZERERZFME
consideration is unconditional because only the BhAk AEEHE - BZRE

passage of time is required before the payment is EEBERREEERNTE
due. BA AT U AR o

WR| ‘ ‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 &HZ - =

6. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(c) Performance obligations for contracts

with customers and
recognition policies (Continued)

revenue

Other income
(i) Interest income

Interest income from bank deposits is recognised
on a time proportion basis using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset.

(i) Government grants

Government grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognised as income
in profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same
period in which the expenses are incurred.

Further information about the Group’s accounting
policies relating to revenue from contracts
with customers is provided in note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(d) Transaction price allocated to

remaining performance obligations

All performance obligations for provision of freight
forwarding and related logistics services, entrusted
management services for operating an online
e-commerce platform and trading of fashion items are
for a period of less than one year. As permitted under
HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied/partially unsatisfied performance obligations
as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 are not
disclosed.

“hAF=A=+—HLHFE

6. EEEHWEm

(c)

(d)

HAh A
) FLELA

RITFERMBWAKEAE
A = e o
R-HRITEEFEEREZ
REERATENSRHE
E HEENEDRER
RAEBRFE-

(i) BT EY

MEAEBEMELRH
BUF# B R ELF R
—HEA RGN B
RN -

BERAKEEFPANNK S
HESTBRRZE—FE
NN O T
3.2°

THERGEYNEEN
R5E®

N

HEEREREBD TR
5 HEAHEETRABEEZL
u%ﬁf R ERHYRE DD
EHBOEEA A —F MU
ToHMBBNBRELENE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

7. OTHER INCOME, OTHER GAINSAND 7. Hilg A - E# i 5 & &S
LOSSES, NET BFRE
2025 2024
—TE-RE —E_MF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Other income comprises: H i A 1% -
Bank interest income SRITF B HA 75 220
Sundry income MIEWA 2 242
77 462
Other gains and losses, net comprises: Atz REEFE 1T
Exchange (losses) gains i 5 (E518) s (5) 31
Loss on written off and disposal of WMEELEEWE  BEK
property, plant and equipment w2 EE (1,460) -
Loss on write off of inventories GFEMIEESR = (115)
(1,465) (84)
(1,388) 378
8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER 8. AHIEEEEENIE TR
EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS MODEL, BEERRD F2E
NET OF REVERSAL
2025 2024
—E-REF —ET_MF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FABIT
Impairment losses under expected credit A= B E#51E 20 E T 6 (E
loss model, net of reversal, comprise: RO EEE 3 -
Reversal of (provision for) impairment B 5 W SR IE R E B D
losses on trade receivables () 198 (309)
(Provision for) reversal of impairment losses i % & K H 4th & U F0 18 LA &
on deposits and other receivables and JE U — A & A B FUE I
amount due from a related company Rz (BE) REEBERD (462) 5
(264) (304)

WR| ‘ ‘
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10.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

FINANCE COSTS 9. MEKA
2025 2024
—E-REF —E-MF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T FAT

Interests on: TH&ERE

- Bank and other borrowings —iR1T R E M fE K 1,311 41
— Lease liabilities - HEaE 52 60
1,363 101

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax has been arrived at after charging

10. R AT & %5 B0 & 18

BRATIS B AT B RN GEA) AT &

(crediting): HBZEN
2025 2024
—E-HF —EMF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FE T T T
Staff costs (excluding directors’ emoluments 8 T 248 (7~ 6 FE 5512
as set out in note 12) FrEimESME)
— Salaries, bonus and other benefits —5e  EANHMER 11,086 10,666
— Contributions to retirement benefits —RIREFFTEI R
schemes 424 398
11,510 11,064
Auditors’ remuneration 2% 85 6 BN & 700 762
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BELRXETE
equipment 1,349 1,791
Cost of sales and services $HE & IR &S AN 155,360 182,555
[\ N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CREDIT) 1. FrBHEX (EE)

The income tax expenses (credit) comprises:

IS X (Bkh) 8% :

2025 2024
—EC-RE —EMOF
HK$’°000 HK$’000
FET FABIT

Deferred taxation EEF IR
- Current year —KRFEE 81 (80)
81 (80)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March
2024, Hong Kong profits tax of the qualified entity of the
Group is calculated in accordance with the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The profits of other Group entities in Hong
Kong not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“PRC EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the PRC
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1
January 2008 onwards.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (CREDIT) 11. FTEHBAX (KE) @)
(Continued)
The income tax expenses (credit) can be reconciled to the FEBREY (e BEe6BEEM
loss before income tax per the consolidated statement of 2EMERNBRTEHATERBYEN
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: T
2025 2024
—ECEF —EWF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAIT
Loss before income tax bR PT1S BRI ES 1B (25,132) (24,751)
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate WEBNEFHFE16.5%
of 16.5% STEHBIE (4,147) (4,084)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax IR S B H AR AR
purpose iR (343) (36)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for %4 18 75 [ 7~ A] 35 $0 5 52 49
tax purpose mwE 850 325
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERRIBEENBEZE 3,585 3,916
Tax effect of deductible temporary AERA] TR E R EEN
differences not recognised MG 24 28
Others =i} 112 (229)
Income tax expense (credit) FrisfifMz (F %) 81 (80)
AS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE - =

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s emoluments paid or

“HF=A=T—BHILFE

12. EERITHRARNE

RIBEA E’UGEMJ:WEE‘J&%\?%QET

payable disclosed pursuant to the applicable GEM Listing EHIREBEE N ENES RITEHAER
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as BB mT
follows:
Salaries Retirement
and  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonuses  contributions Total
g HeR2H REEL  BIHIER &3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Tin TiEn TR
Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-E-RE=R
=t-ALEE
Executive directors: HTEE:
Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Chairman) BRELE(XRE) - 1,520 1,000 18 2,538
Ms Qu Tianyun (note (i below) EX=RT(RT XM - 4 - 4
Mr. Zhang Pangfel (note (i) below) FEREA (BT HE) - 8 - 9 17
Ms. Wu Yushan (note (i) below) SEYLL (RT3 - 48 - - 48
Mr. Yan Ximao (note (iv) below) BAREE (R T XHHW) - 236 - 9 25
Non-executive directors: FYTES:
Mr. Li Shiu Tong Andrew (note (v) below) FRZEE(RTHEWY) - 31 - - 31
Mr. Yau Tung Shing (note (vi) below) ERRAR S5 (5 T 3 &Ewi) - 31 - - 31
Independent non-executive directors: BUEgTES:
Mr. Chow Chi Wing okt 110 - - - 110
Mr. Tam Chi Ming George (note (vi) below) EEHLE (R T i) 57 - - - 57
Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent (note (vii) below) BNELE (EJXWE(VM\) 57 - - - 57
Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy (note (ix) below) R22 04 (R T 14 - - - 14
Mr. Liao Donggjang (note (x) below) BRABLE(RTHHNK) 37 - - - 37
Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (note (x) below AERLE (R T HFEN) 80 - - - 80
355 1,878 1,000 36 3,269
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-Z-MEZR
St-HLEEE
Executive directors: HTES:
Mr. Loy Hak Yu Thomas (Chairman) BREEE(ZR) - 1,620 185 18 773
Ms. Qu Tianyun (note () below) ERZLE (BT ) - 40 6 = 46
Mr. Zhang Pangfel (note (i) below) FEREA (BT = 571 45 58 674
Ms. Wu Yushan (note i) below) SHYLL (BT - 120 10 - 130
Mr. Yan Ximao (note (iv) below) BAKEE (R T - 360 30 18 408
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES:
Mr. Ghow Chi Wing [t ks 120 = 10 - 130
Ms. Qu Tianyun (note () below) RRERT (R T hH) 58 - - - 58
Mr. Liao Donggjang (note ()be\ow) BRETE(RTMEN) 120 - 10 - 130
Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo (note (xi below) ABREE (R T EX) 120 = 10 = 130
Mr. Zhang Quanhui (note (xi) below) REBEAE (R T (i) 2 - - - 2
440 2,111 256 % 3,501

152 Wwan Leader International Limited ~ Annual Report 2024 — 2025

\ |



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i

(il

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xii)

AT

Ms. Qu Tianyun was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 8 June 2023. Further, Ms. Qu Tianyun has been
redesignated as an executive director on 1 December 2023.

Mr. Zhang Pangfei retired as an executive director on 23
September 2024.

Ms. Wu Yushan retired as an executive director on 23 September
2024.

Mr. Yan Ximao resigned as an executive director on 30 December
2024.

Mr. Li Shiu Tong Andrew was appointed as a non-executive
director on 30 December 2024.

Mr. Yau Tung Shing was appointed as a non-executive director on
30 December 2024.

Mr. Tam Chi Ming George was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 9 October 2024.

Mr. Wan San Fai Vincent was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 9 October 2024.

Ms. Lai Pik Chi Peggy was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 22 August 2024. Further, Ms. Lai Pik
Chi Peggy retired as an independent non-executive director on 23
September 2024.

Mr. Liao Donggiang resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 22 August 2024.

Mr. Ho Yuk Ming Hugo resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 30 December 2024.

Mr. Zhang Quanhui resigned as an independent non-executive
director on 8 June 2023.

B -

(i

(il

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xii)

EBERRERAR

12.EERTHEAZM S @

ERELTR -_E-_=FANBHE
ZERBIUIFMNITESF - I BX
2+t eR—B-_=F+-F—8#H
EARITES -

RERTCER-_ZTE-_MNFALA=-T=
HERERITES -

Rt RN —_E_mMFEFhLA=-+=
BRERITES °

TREXEN T _NFEF+_A=+
BEZTARERITES -

HMRERKEENR T _NFEF+_A=+
BEZTARERITES -

BEREER_Z_WNFETANBE
RERBIUIFATES -

BFBEER_T_WNE+ANBE
RERBIUIFATES -

RECLAITR-_Z-_WFENA=ZT=
BEZERBIIFENITESE - LI
REZLAITR-_Z-_WFAA=T=
BREBVIFRNTES -

BRALER-_ZT_NFNA=-+=
ABEBVIERITES -

MERAEENR T _NFEF+-_A=+
BEIBIIFRNTES -

REBEAER T _=FXAN\BH#
EBIFNTES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

12.

13.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

The executive directors’ and non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for their services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the years ended 31
March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

The remunerations of directors and the Chief Executive
Officer were reviewed by the remuneration committee of the
Company having regard to the performance of individuals
and market trends.

The discretionary bonus is recommended by the
management of the Group and approved by remunerations
committee of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and the prevailing
marketing condition.

FIVE HIGHEST EMPOLYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, during the year ended 31 March 2025, one (2024:
one) was director of the Company whose emoluments are
included in the note 12 above. The emoluments of the
remaining four (2024: four) individuals were as follows:
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13.

BEERTHARSHNE @

EXFIRZBTES RIFEATESMH
EHREREEARARFRAREEH
Mg 2 M

EXFRHBIYIERATESTM S R
SERARREFRHUNRBHARA -

B EZ-_fAF=—A=+—HEK=Z
“WEZA=Z+—BItFEE BES
ERERXRERETMMES 2THE -

ARAFMEZ B ERBEARR LT
SBE R ES RITBASNFHN -

METEABASRBEEEERSE I H
AEEFHZESHE MEERKS
RERASRENEZRE  BHAKRR
KIRITHMR

TEREHEEMS

BE_Z-_RAE=A=+—BI1t&
B AEERZESHFMALTBER
DA~ HR(ZEZWF: —R)EE -
HEHM SN EXHIE12 - 82T
H(ZTFEZWF : UR) AT BN
-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE—ZT-—_HAF=A=+—HItFE

13. FIVE HIGHEST EMPOLYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

13. A2 BRaFHFEEMS @

2025 2024

—TE-RE —E_MF

HK$’°000 HK$’000

FET FAET

Salaries and other benefits e MHEMmREF 4,480 3.930
Discretionary bonus (note below) B IEAL (M5 B T30 50 301
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme B 4k & FI 5T 2 4 2% 72 72
4,602 4,303

Note: Discretionary bonus that is recommended by the management Mz EEEREFHNKLSEE - B TEA

of the Group and approved by remunerations committee of the
Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

Their emoluments were within the following band:

RERALBET S A BIERALE
BEEERARTRAAKEHFMZ
EEHENKRBIEL -

BEMS RTINS AR :

2025 2024

—EBE-HE —ZEF

No. of No. of

Employees Employees

EEAH EE A

Nil to HK$1,500,000 = £1,500,0007% JT 3 4
HK$1,500,001 to HK2,000,000 1,500,001% 7t £2,000,0007% 7T = -
HK$2,000,001 to HK2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £2,500,0007% 7T 1 -

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals (including directors, Chief Executive Officer
and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office.

14. DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the years ended 31 March

2025 and 31 March 2024, nor has any dividend been
proposed since the end of the reporting period.

AT

U"oq'

RBE-_T_AF=A=+—HEZ
T_MFE=_A=+—HLEFE X&
EHfERLEESFMAL(BRE
E TREHEER) XM 1F
RMAREBRMAREE R RZE
HAERRERE -

g =\

ARREETEBRNBE_FT -5
FZA=t"HAR-_ZT_ME=A
ST -BLEFENREERE  B®E
HARPASK » TRR BRI ARE -

14.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE - =

“HF=A=T—BHILFE

15. LOSS PER SHARE 15. B RE18
(a) Basic (@) EX
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share B k/: BRERKEEBRET
is based on the following data: %E\ PR 808
2025 2024
“ECEHE ZZ-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FHET
Loss figures are calculated as follows: BREEFHTAENT
Loss represent loss for the year attributable to  EIEE AR AR HEE AEEETA
the owners of the Company B (25,213) (24,671)
2025 2024
“ECRE —ZmF
’000 of shares
TR
(Restated)
(ZE5)
Number of shares REHA
Issued ordinary shares at 1 April RIEB—BE#EITHLER 1,247,830 990,000
Effect of shares issued under the May 2023 “ECCFRAREEETE
Placing BOORMOTE - 98,341
Effect of shares issued under the November —E-=F+— H HE% EBENN
2023 Placing Eﬁ%ﬂﬂxh ?/ Z = 54,276
Effect of Share Consolidation %1“’\1755’3 (1,123,047) (1,028,355)
Effect of shares issued under the 2025 Placing —% 7£¢@E’% EBETEEIT
BRin#y g2 68 =
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for gizt 2 FRERNEEMs L
the purpose of basic loss per share WA F 8 124,851 114,262

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of basic and dilutes loss per share for the
years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024 have
been adjusted for the issuance of new shares for both
years and also the Share Consolidation during the year
ended 31 March 2025 and details of which are set out
in note 27.

(b) Diluted

Diluted loss per share is same as basic loss per share
as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue for
the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE —

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of-use assets

—hFE=A=1t—HLFE

16. Y135 - BMEKRRE

, Furniture
RARAE and Office Leasehold Motor
Properties Motor vehicles fixtures ~ equipment improvements vehicles Total
BRER
ng RE ER£E HAZRE HENERE RE @
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL AL TAL AL TAL AL AL
Cost: ﬁﬂi :
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=#=R=1-H 661 2,306 4 175 2314 1347 6,807
Additions RE = = - 1,920 - - 1,920
Exchange realignments EjA% - - - ) (32) (46) (84)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZE-EE=ZA=+-AK 061 2,306 4 2,089 2,282 1,301 8,643
“3-MEmA-A
Additions WE 302 - - - 50 - 352
Written offfdisposals s/ HE = - - (1,920) - (1) 2,691)
Termination of right-of-use: BtRRE (661) - - - - = (661)
Exchange realignments B A% - - - ) () 1 ()
Transfer &2 - (2,306) o o = 2,30 =
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - - (10) (535) - (638)
At 31 March 2025 RZB-aF=R=1-H 302 - 4 65 1,792 2,887 5,000
Accumulated Depreciation: ?*ﬁﬁﬁ :
At 31 March 2023 R-E-=£=A=+-H 349 982 4 80 1,398 682 3,495
Charge for the year ERik 20 461 - 554 432 124 1,791
Exchange realignments EHEE = = = ) U] (10 (18)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-F-mF=A=t-BR 569 1443 4 633 1,823 796 5,268
“EZ-mEMmA-A
Charge for the year Enk 180 461 - 339 257 112 1349
Eliminated on written off/disposals W/ HERE S - - - (853) - (378) (1,231)
Termination of right-of-use RIEERE (661) = S o = o (661)
Exchange realignments EjA% = = = () @ 1 @
Transfer [EE - (1,904) - - - 1,904 -
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries HERBRAARES - - - (89) (321) (374)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-R%=A=1+-H 88 = 4 65 1,757 2,436 4,349
Carrying amount BEE
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RF=A=+-H 214 - - - 3 402 0651
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=1-A 9 863 - 1,456 459 505 3375
AS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum:

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Office equipment 20% to 33%

Leasehold improvements 20% or over the lease term,
whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 20%

Right-of-use assets 20% or over the lease term,

whichever is shorter

Amounts related to leased assets recognised in profit
or loss

16. W% - BEKRRE @

LtHE - - BERZRBEBRATF
RUBEBEIE

R K & E 5 20%
MANERME 20%Z=33%
HEWMEEE 20%3k f 8 (A
BRERBE)
RE 20%
FREEE 20%3k f 8 (A
BREBE)

FERERTRANEEEEZSHE

2025 2024
—E-HE —ET__OF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET

Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREESEZITE
Leased properties HEWE 180 220
Motor vehicles RE 461 461
Expenses relating to short-term leases RHAERAX 126 126

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax assets,
after set off certain deferred tax assets against deferred tax
liabilities of the same taxable entity, for financial reporting
purposes:

17. EEHIBEEE

AT RBEMBHREZEEHREE
(RGHERRAERSE TEEHEE
EEREERABEEEER) D

2025 2024

—E_RE —EZNF

HK$°000 HK$’000

FE T T8 7T

Deferred tax assets ELEFRIBEE 58 148
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (continued)

The following are the major deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities recognised and movements thereon during the

current and prior years:

17. EEBIEE E @)

TIHAERAEEBEFERRBNE
RELEHBAEENRELRBARBERE

ECL provision
on trade and

other receivables,

deposits,
and amount
due from a Accelerated

related company tax depreciation Total

B RHEM

EwHE -

BeEREK—H

BEARREN
BHEEEERE mERERTE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FAET FAET
At 31 March 2023 RZE-_=F=A=+—H 65 2 67
Credit to profit or loss for the year ~ REEEZ A (K1) 60 20 80

(note 11)
Exchange realignments fE 5 A% 1 - 1
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZ_MF=A=+—H 126 22 148
RZE-MENA—H
Credit to profit or loss for the year ~ REE B A (Mf3F11) (59) (22) (81)
(note 11)

Disposal of subsidiaries HEHMBAT 9) - 9)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE-_RAE=A=1+—H 58 - 58

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$76,642,000 (2024:
HK$55,803,000) available for offset against future profits.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect
of these unused tax losses due to unpredictability of the
future profit streams. The unrecognised tax loss arising in
Hong Kong can be carried forward indefinitely while the
unrecognised tax loss arising in the PRC can be carried
forward for a period of five years from their respective year

of origination.

AS
U"oq'

EBERRERAR

RBEBKR  AEBERSAHEE
18 #976,642,0008 T (Z T Z 1 4F -
55,803,000/ 7T) A 3K $5 K 2K 5% FI ©
F A AR 2R3 A 2R TR £ DA BRI - #R I 4
MZEARDAMREEBERELCIE
BE -EEAEENABRKEAEIA
IR HAAE 6 - A P B E A R 1R
REBEEBITEEELESFERILE
R F o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (continued)

18

At the end of the reporting period, aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised become zero due to the disposal of subsidiaries
(81 March 2024: HK$2,315,000). No liability has been
recognised in respect of these differences because the
Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that such
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

At the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$379,000 (2024:
HK$233,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

17.

ELEHIEEE @)

RBEEHA BEENBAR - KB
RARDEAFEENGRZ5 (W
ARZSLERIRELCHRBEE) A
KeEZE(ZE-_WF=ZA=+—H80":
2,315,000/ 7T) © B F A & B AT 4%
BEOERER L NH MZSEER
HAR Al RS SR N B [ - a0 £ 5h 3%
LEEmRAAE -

REBEE-_ZET-_AF=A=+—H
EEE AEBEJHNBRERERLY
379,000 T (= F = /4 4F : 233,000
IT) o BRI T] REE) AR SR B R
AR IR TR =% MEREH
AMBEREZEERELERIBEE -

INVENTORIES 18. 7 &
2025 2024
—E_-REF —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FETT
Merchandise [ - 432

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company
recognised a loss of written off of inventories of
approximately HK$115,000 which was charged to profit or
loss for the year (2025: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE - =

—hFE=A=1t—HLFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 19. EZ RHMEIWRE - &
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS &R % CRNEY |
2025 2024
—E-RHE —E_MF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FET
Receivables at amortised cost comprise: R AT 2 2 BURIE
B
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE 32,286 33,309
Less: Allowances B B (507) (705)
31,779 32,604
Prepayment, deposits and i‘ﬁﬁ R R E A E U
other receivables comprise: RIE FJ% :
- Rental deposits -MHERS 92 112
— Third party freight forwards -E=FEERE - 2,000
- Logistics and warehouse services - Rk B#HRE 2,160 10,800
— Suppliers of fashion items - B E R MR ER 20,625 18,629
— Other deposits and prepayment - HEihize MFENAFOE 348 372
— Other receivables - H b e W 5RIE 1,200 3,700
24,425 35,613
Less: Allowances o B (464) (2)
23,961 35,611
55,740 68,215
Analysed as: DA
— Current —mE 55,655 68,207
— Non-current - JEFE 85 8
55,740 68,215
AS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

(Continued)

All trade receivables as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March
2024 are arising from HKFRS 15.

The Group allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90 days

to its customers.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables net
of allowance for expected credit losses of trade receivables,

19.

25 ,4ﬁ@ﬂ&ﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁ
€ RFENAKE @
FAEESEKKER S -HE=A
=+—BR-—ZE-M&=A=+—8
il’j%ig E/E”H]ji%i& [==] L%E\‘J%155)L

AEBREZEFEHNTI0ENAR
ZEH-

TR N HE RN E F R WA
(IR EZEEFBEREEERRE

presented based on the invoice date, which approximates ) REEE QA (ES W SR B

the respective revenue recognition dates, at the reporting BE) BB DT :
date:

2025 2024

—E-EHF —ET-OF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAIT

Within 30 days 30H AR 16,545 15,914

More than 30 but within 60 days HBiB30BE B RB60H AN 9,292 9,066

More than 60 but within 90 days H3#E60H B R90H AR 13 7,343

More than 90 days but within 1 year HBBEOBEMIFEMNUR 516 281

More than 1 year BB1F 5,413 -

31,779 32,604

The Group’s trade receivables that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

UHEBEEEERZNEERNINE
FHEZAREE 5 RURAESEINIT

2025 2024
—E_RF —E_UF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FBIT

Denominated in USD AFETEHE 13 4,478
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

20. AMOUNT DUE FROM A RELATED 20. B —REBEEQTANRE
COMPANY
Particulars of amounts due from a related company disclosed B AE 2 BB (E622F) 5383(1)(d)
pursuant to Section 383(1)(d) of the Companies Ordinance BRAR (WEEENZER) BEHIE
(Cap. 622) and Part 3 of the Companies (Disclosure of SEHFE 2 FEW — M B E R B FIAE
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as BT
follows:
Maximum
amount
outstanding
during the
Name of related company BENF4H Relationship BE 2025 2024 year
ERES
“ECnf ZEIpE AEELE
HK’000 HK'000
TERL AT
Zhejiang Jiyueke Brand FISNEREER  Controled bya
Management Co., Ltd. ARAT director -2 ESHH - 1,901 1,901
The amount due from a related company was unsecured, FEW —MEIEE N RIFIE AEIETE - ¢
interest-free and had no fixed repayment terms. The balance BENEETEDTH SRR ENE
became nil due to the disposal of subsidiaries. RAIME AT -
A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

21. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND 1. B HFRITERUARIRIT
BANK BALANCES AND CASH EHRRES

2025 2024

—ESE-FE —E-F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FB T T T

Pledged bank deposits B RITER - 3,017

Bank balances and cash WITHBR MRS 15,511 14,823

15,511 17,840

Bank balances carry interest at market rates.

As at 31 March 2024, out of the balances of pledged
bank deposits and bank balances and cash, an amount of
HK$579,000 is denominated in RMB which is not a freely
convertible currency in the PRC and the remittance of funds
out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control
promulgated imposed by the government of the PRC. As
at 31 March 2025, the Company did not have any bank
balance that is denominated in RMB which is not a freely
convertible currency in the PRC and the remittance of funds
out of the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control
promulgated imposed by the government of the PRC.

The Group’s balances of pledged bank deposits and bank
balances and cash denominated in RMB which located in
Hong Kong are not subject to the foreign exchange control.

The pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged to a
bank to secure the provision of cargo transportation services
from the suppliers. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
pledged bank deposits carry fixed interest rates at 0.975%
(2025: nil) per annum.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. EZ R HMENKIE
2025 2024
—E-HEF —ZE_mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FE T
Trade payables B 5N 08 22,413 21,409
Other payables and accrued expenses H b e FIE RER 3,504 8,532
25,917 29,941
Analysed as: DN A

- Current - n® 25,401 29,941
— Non-current - ERH 516 -
25,917 29,941
The following is an aging analysis of trade payables LXTEEAiﬁiﬁﬁ?HETF%—rEIHHf@J

presented based on the invoice date at the end of the HE S ENRIBERIRE DT ©

reporting period.

2025 2024

—E-EHF —EHF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Within 30 days 308 AR 16,223 13,406
More than 30 but within 60 days HBiB30BE B R60H AN 5,566 7,416
More than 60 but within 90 days H#E60H B R90H AR 82 45
More than 90 but within 1 year HBBEOBEMIFEMURA = 542
More than 1 year BB 542 =
22,413 21,409

The credit periods granted from the suppliers are HENE T ZEEHARS0E4SH « K
ranging from 30 to 45 days. The Group has financial risk SECEBVBRAREEBR - AR
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are RETE BN REEREERR AL -

settled within the credit timeframe.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 2. EF R EMENAKE @

(Continued)

The Group’s trade payables that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

NHAEEER ZIEEE NG
FHEZAREE 5 RN FAEHINWT

2025 2024

—E-RE —TZmMEF

HK$°000 HK$’'000

F& T AT

Denominated in USD LAZETTEHE 29 1,639
Denominated in Great Britain Pound (“GBP”) LAZE 4% ([ 248 ]) 5HE 542 542

Included in other payables and accrued expenses were:

(i) Amount due to a director amounted to approximately
HK$119,000 (2024: HK$339,000) which is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i)  As at 31 March 2024, amount due to a related
company amounted to approximately HK$16,000
which was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand. The amount become zero due to the disposal
of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2025
and thus, as at 31 March 2025, the outstanding
balance is HKS$nil.

(i)  As at 31 March 2024, outstanding borrowings
granted by independent third parties amounted to
approximately HK$2,910,000, which was unsecured,
carried at fixed interest rate of 4% per annum and
with maturity within one year. As at 31 March 2025,
the borrowings become zero due to the disposal of
subsidiaries during the year 31 March 2025 and thus,
as at 31 March 2025, the outstanding balance is
HK$nil.

(iv) As at 31 March 2025, non-current payables represent
long service payment obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 23. e EE
2025 2024
—E-HEF —EMF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Provision of freight forwarding and related 2t & EKIE KB R
logistics services Pk 7 = 323
Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligations to EHEBBEEAEREREPRES
transfer services to a customer for which an amount of EMAEETREZEPEZRE REZE
consideration is due from the customer. During the year —E-_RAE=A=1t—HIEFEE R
ended 31 March 2025, revenue recognised in the current AREEFRENBEREYEHERHK
year relating to contract liabilities at the beginning of the year %= B #9323,0008 0 (ZZFE Z PO 4
was approximately HK$323,000 (2024: HK$348,000). There 348,000/ 7T) - MERARFERRE
was no revenue recognised in the current year that related to ETEEEKNBEAS TR -
performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.
The Group makes advance billings to certain customers at AREFBNRFBIEERBEEENAMEF
the commencement of services. The advance billings related P HERE - EEHN AT
to non-cancellable contracts that are due for payments AN EBMIRME EESMRMESD
resulted in contract liabilities being recognised through the AN BETTNBEXENE R SRE®
shipment period until the completion of shipment. F LARERR o
A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

24. LEASE LIABILITIES 24. HEEE
2025 2024
—E-REF —E_MF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE T FAET
Lease liabilities payable on: RUATHRRNENHERE:
— Within one year ——FR 152 486
— Within a period of more than one year —HBR—FELEME
but not more than two years RIS 66 276
— Within a period of more than two years —HBEMFELRAEF
but not exceeding five years HAFE A - 77
218 839
Less: Amounts due for settlement after T A A BEENEIE
12 months and shown under REWRRBEE
current liabilities B TNETR (66) (353)
Amounts due for settlement within + A ARNGERNREARIE
12 months and shown under WHRIERBEEBEETET
non-current liabilities 152 486
Analysed as: DA
— Current — R B 152 486
- Non-current —ERH 66 353
218 839
Other information: Hiup &k -
Interest on lease liabilities HESENT R 52 60
Total cash outflow of leases HEMReRLES 975 701
Addition of new leases ANEFHEE 302 =

e ‘
) i §
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

25. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

25. RITREMER

2025 2024
—E-REF —EMF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FABIT
Other borrowings H i & 3K 9,099 -
Bank borrowings RITE K = 756
9,099 756
The carrying amounts of unsecured bank BB E R HHFTEMN A LHTE
and other borrowings presented based on  E & 7 B B 2 51| &9 £ K 30
contractual scheduled repayment dates IRITREMEREEE
set out in the loan agreements
Within one year —F R 9,099 500
After one year but within two years A —FERME A = 256
9,099 756
Less: Amount due within one year and B R — E R EEI AR
shown under current liabilities AEETELRZESHE (9,099) (500)
Amount due after one year and shown R—FREBINIERSE
under non-current liabilities BETETZEHE = 256
The carrying amounts of bank and other EARE RS B REHRE
borrowings that are not repayable on T FEAREEMNRITEE
demand or within one year from the end HEREEEESAILRE
of the reporting period but contain KB &
a repayment on demand clause - 756

The unsecured bank borrowing as at 31 March 2024 carried
at interest rate of Prime rate — 2.25% per annum and
repayable for 3 years to 5 years. The borrowings contains
repayable on demand clause and thus, the balances had
been classified as current liabilities. The proceeds were used
for general working capital purpose.

As at 31 March 2025, other borrowings represented
borrowing due to Cargo Man Logistics Company Limited,
the shareholder of the Company. The amount is unsecured,
carried at 28% per annum and repayable within one year.

AT

U"oq'

RIZE-_MF=A=+—H " EBER
RITEFIRFENEHREBENK-2.25%
B YAR=ZFERFRNEE %
SHEABSTREREEGRK  H&E
BEOBEARBAE - IEFAEGH
F—REEES -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

26. PROVISIONS 26. & 1E
2025 2024
—E-EREF —EMF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TAT
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MEBRENDOMA
Non-current liabilities FEREBE &
— Provision for reinstatement cost — (B1E Rk A B 15 150 100
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. A
Number of
shares Amount
&g Q=] &8
‘000 HK$’000
T B% FAIT
Authorised: JATE ¢
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and BC_ZE: —F#mlWA—H -
1 April 2024 (ordinary share at —E-UF=A=+—8H
HK$0.01 per share) FZZE-_HFEPA—H
(ZRE®AR0.01ETT) 10,000,000 100,000
Share Consolidation (note (b)(i) below) it & Bt (R STH EE(b)(i)) (9,000,000) -
At 31 March 2025 (ordinary share at R-—BE-_RAF=A=+—H
HK$0.1 per share) (EBRER’R01ET) 1,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid EEITERER
At 1 April 2023 (ordinary share at RZZEZ=FMHA—H
HK$0.01 per share) (B E@0.01%5 L) 990,000 9,900
Shares issued under the May 2023 “TE-FRHAREEET
Placing (note (a)(i) below) BETRH (R TX
B 5 (a)(i)) 112,830 1,128
Shares issued under the November —E - =F+—AREEHE
2023 Placing (note (a)(ii) below) TEBITRG (RTX
M 5 (a) (i) 145,000 1,450
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RZZE_MF=H=+—H
(ordinary share at HK$0.01 per share) )Si_ E_HEMA—H
(E@RER0.01ETT) 1,247,830 12,478
Share Consolidation (note (b)(i) below) H&TV\H (& 3T 5E () (i) (1,123,047) -
Shares issued under the 2025 Placing —ERFREFETIEE
(note (b)(ii) below) 1TRR 5 (BT SCHT sE(b)(i) 24,956 2,496
At 31 March 2025 (ordinary share at R-E-_RAF=A=+—H
HK$0.1 per share) (BRRE®R01EIT) 149,739 14,974
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE - =

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

The movements of the Company’s authorised and issued
share capital during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31
March 2024 are as follows:

(@) For the year ended 31 March 2024

(i)

AT

(4

May 2023 Placing

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated
6 April 2023, on 6 April 2023, the Company
entered into the placing agreement (the “May
2023 Placing Agreement”) with the placing agent
(the “May 2023 Placing Agent”) pursuant to which
the May 2023 Placing Agent conditionally agreed
to place as the Company’s placing agent, on a
best effort basis, the placing shares (the “May
2023 Placing Shares”) of up to 198,000,000 new
shares to certain placees at the placing price (the
“May 2023 Placing Price”) of HK$0.071 per May
2023 Placing Share (the “May 2023 Placing”).

The May 2023 Placing Shares would be allotted
and issued pursuant to the general mandate
granted to the directors of the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 2
September 2022.

—hFE=A=1t—HLFE

27. R (@)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 27. HQZ'K(%E)

(@) For the year ended 31 March 2024 (@ BZ=—ZFT-—_MWF=A

(Continued) =t—BLEFEu@m
() May 2023 Placing (Continued) () =ZE-=FFHABEZEHE

(%)

The May 2023 Placing Price of HK$0.071 per May T2 =-FRAREEE
2023 Placing Share represents: (a) a premium R E_=FRABRER
of approximately 2.90% to the closing price of 0.071 B TE : (@R =&
HK$0.069 per share as quoted on the Stock T=FnAREHEBAH
Exchange on the date of the May 2023 Placing TR T E SR
Agreement; and (b) a discount of approximately 0.0697% 7T )& {8 492.90% :
11.69% to the average closing price of EoREE T =1
HK$0.0804 per share as quoted on the Stock A EmzE B A xER
Exchange in the last five consecutive trading days BEEER S B EB TR
immediately prior to the date of the May 2023 = F 19 U T (B & §80.0804

Placing Agreement. B ILHTEAI11.69% ©
Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated BEAXANTBHAEA-ZE
18 May 2023, the Company announced that T =ZFHEATNHBA
all the conditions precedent set out in the May LK aEH —F
2023 Placing Agreement had been fulfilled and Z=FRAREHEH
completion of the May 2023 Placing took place on 2B RIEHED EE
18 May 2023 in accordance with the terms and K m—_ZTE_=FHARK
conditions of the May 2023 Placing Agreement. EEHEIOR_E-_=FH
An aggregate of 112,830,000 May 2023 Placing A+ N \NBERE-_Z-_=F
Shares, representing approximately 10.23% of the A RS &8RRG
issued share capital of the Company as at 18 May H5E R - & $£112,830,000
2023 immediately after completion, have been s — =& = : ¢ h ARE
successfully placed to no less than six placees at B’ (FBE RN ERE TR
the May 2023 Placing Price of HK$0.071 per May i NN I = = = 5
2023 Placing Share. A+NBZ %éﬂ 11 IR
#10.23% ) EXREBR =T

—=%T1AH @E%foﬁo.om
BT _E-_=F0AK
EEXRIEE T LR

BEBLA ©
The net proceeds from the May 2023 Placing, T E-=FRAREEHA
after deduction of all relevant expenses amounted T8 IEFE (BMK AT
to approximately HK$7.67 million. The Company EHEBRAX%Z) D RT.67TE
intends to apply the net proceeds from the May BEAT ARAABRE _-Z
2023 Placing for the purposes of replenishing the T CFRAREFHEME
working capital of the Group and developing the DRIEFEARNEEAEER
Group’s businesses. LEBEBESURBRAS
B2 %755
Further details of the above are set out in the FiiE - FBEHRAR
Company’s announcements dated 6 April 2023 AHEBHA-_Z_=F1NH
and 18 May 2023. RNREBRZZE_=%TA

AR OF/N= mewm
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(@) For the year ended 31 March 2024
(Continued)

(ii)

AT

November 2023 Placing

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated
19 September 2023, on 19 September 2023,
the Company entered into the placing agreement
(the “November 2023 Placing Agreement”) with
the placing agent (the “November 2023 Placing
Agent”) pursuant to which the November 2023
Placing Agent conditionally agreed to place as
the Company’s placing agent, on a best effort
basis, the placing shares (the “November 2023
Placing Shares”) of up to 220,566,000 new
shares to certain placees at the placing price (the
“November 2023 Placing Price”) of HK$0.100 per
November 2023 Placing Share (the “November
2023 Placing”, together the May 2023 Placing,
the “2023 Placing”).

The November 2023 Placing Shares would be
allotted and issued pursuant to the general
mandate granted to the directors of the Company
at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 28 August 2023.

EBERRERAR

BEAAABEBHAE=-Z
—=ZFAAt+ARABZA
L RN FBE-=FH A
+hB  AQRERER
B(ZZBE-=%+—A
EREBDILEE H=
([ZZ2=—=F+—F®R&
W&l B 2=
F+—AREREFGKH
BAEEABARAZEER
BBRBHEEUNTR =
E_=F+—ARERH
0.100B L 2BEE ([=
T=F+—AREED
mMETERRAREER%
220,566,0000% %1 i% 15 2 B2
ERD(ZE_=F+—
ARERGB] (2=
F+—AREEE]  #E[EF
TE_=FRAREEE
G ZE_=ZFEES
H]) o

T =FT+—HEER
PERBR-_ZE-_=F)N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 27. IR 7K (@)
(@) For the year ended 31 March 2024 @ BEEZE=-ZFE_MWEFE=AH
(Continued) =+—HLEEE @
(i) November 2023 Placing (Continued) iy =ZZE_=F+-ABESE
15 (#8)
The November 2023 Placing Price of HK$0.100 :%:EEJr—H Be & (B
per November 2023 Placing Share represents: (a) ER-ZZF=Z=F1+—Af
no discount to the closing price of HK$0.100 per E B 190.10078 7T : (@)
share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the ZE=FT+—HEE®H
date of the November 2023 Placing Agreement; & BB R AT LT
and (b) a discount of approximately 1.96% to the B & 0%0.100/% Jr I £ 47
average closing price of HK$0.102 per share as EROREE T ==
quoted on the Stock Exchange in the last five F+—ARS %= BB
consecutive trading days immediately prior to the BEAEEER S AT
date of the November 2023 Placing Agreement. X Ffr Pt #E$i’/] W E Sk

0.1028 T HT:E 491.96% °

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated BEXAXAGBBHAE-S
16 November 2023, the Company announced =%+ —-—A+ARBZ
that all the conditions precedent set out in the NE AKRAEM = Z
November 2023 Placing Agreement had been —=F+—RAREHEM
fulfiled and completion of the November 2023 BB RIGHEEEE
Placing took place on 16 November 2023 in B-m—_ZF_=%+—AH
accordance with the terms and conditions of the IESFEHEER_T=_=F
November 2023 Placing Agreement. An aggregate +T—ATABREZ=ZZ
of 145,000,000 November 2023 Placing Shares, =+ —AREHE
representing approximately 11.62% of the issued IR BRAEHTRK A
share capital of the Company as at 16 November 145,000,000 —F — =
2023 immediately after completion, have been Ft+—-—HAEERH (BE
successfully placed to no less than six placees at 75"5%[5"‘ TEXERRF R
the November 2023 Placing Price of HK$0.100 T_=F+—HAt+tXBZ
per November 2023 Placing Share. BEBITRANI1.62%) 2

BEKR-_Z-_=F+—A8
it & fx 170.1008 Ty — =
T=F+—AREERY
ReE TR ORNBEREA ©

e ‘
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE - =

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(@) For the year ended 31 March 2024

AT

(Continued)

November 2023 Placing (Continued)

The net proceeds from the November 2023
Placing, after deduction of all relevant expenses
amounted to approximately HK$14,048,000. The
net issue price per November 2023 Placing Share
is approximately HK$0.969. The Company intends
to apply the net proceeds from the November
2023 Placing for the purposes of replenishing the
working capital of the Group and developing the
Group’s businesses.

Further details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 19 September
20283, 9 October 2023, 24 October 2023, 7
November 2023 and 16 November 2023.

All the above new shares shall rank pari passu in
all respects with each other in the share capital of
the Company.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

EBERRERAR

—hFE=A=1t—HLFE

2=+ —AKBRE
EHFBREFE (L
BT EMRERAE) AA
14,048,000/ 7T - B % —
To=F+—AREKRH
ZFEBEITEL E0.9698
e ARABE T ==
F+—AREFEMBR
HEFHEARBRAAEE 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

27. R (@)

(b) For the year ended 31 March 2025 b) BZE=ZFE=-"F=A
=t—HLEFE
(i)  Share Consolidation iy KHEH

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated
23 December 2024, the Board of Directors of the
Company (he “Board”) proposed to implement the
share consolidation (the “Share Consolidation”)
on the basis that every ten (10) issued and
unissued existing shares of HK$0.01 each would
be consolidated into one (1) consolidated share of
HK$0.10 each.

As at 23 December 2024, the authorised share
capital of the Company was HK$100,000,000
divided into 10,000,000,000 existing shares of par
value of HK$0.01 each, of which 1,247,830,000
existing shares have been issued and were fully
paid or credited as fully paid. Upon the Share
Consolidation becoming effective and assuming
that no new existing shares would be issued
or repurchased from 23 December 2024 until
the effective date of the Share Consolidation,
the authorised share capital of the Company
would become HK$100,000,000 divided into
1,000,000,000 consolidated shares of par
value of HK$0.10 each, of which 124,783,000
consolidated shares would be in issue which were
fully paid or credited as fully paid.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated
15 January 2025, the Company announced
that at the Company’s extraordinary general
meeting held on 15 January 2025, the proposed
Share Consolidation was duly approved by the
Shareholders of the Company by way of poll.

BEARAABHAE-FT
“HFE+-—AZ+=HH
RE AREEZEE ([E
Eg)BREHRERMNE G
(TR EHD) EERE
TR E 81T R R BT
BHEKG (FREEC.01E
T BE R —)kE O
B (BRMEEC.108T) -

R—ZE_WWF+ = A
—+=B ARQFZETE
B% 7K 100,000,000 JT
2 £10,000,000,0000% &
BEEC.OIE T 2R AR
fn » E 1,247,830,0000%
REBRMEBITIEHR
SARIIERRE - R M
AHFEME TREEZ
ZE_ME+-_A=-+=8
RERMOEMERB L
BreETHBRFTRE
RGN RAREETERAE
# £100,000,000/% 7T * 5
/1,000,000,0000% & i% @
E0.10B L& Hrik 1o -
H d1124,783,0000% & 5 I%
MEEBEETRBRIA
BRFIERUR AR 3K ©

BEAAABHA-ZT
—HEF—A+AHRBZA
ECARARBEM RZF
—EF—A+HRBEITZ
AARREFRARE L
BEBROHEHEELRDR
BREAKERAFALER
HEHE ©

m"

176 Wan Leader International Limited  Annual Report 2024 — 2025



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b) For the year ended 31 March 2025
(Continued)

AT

(4

(i)

(i)

Share Consolidation (Continued)

All consolidated shares rank pari passu with each
other in all respects with, and have the same
rights and privileges as, the shares in issue prior
to the approved consolidated share and thus,
the Share Consolidation became effective on 17
January 2025.

Further details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 23 December
2024, 8 January 2025 and 15 January 2025 and
the Company’s circular dated 31 December 2024.

2025 Placing

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated
11 March 2025, on 11 March 2025, the Company
entered into the placing agreement (the “2025
Placing Agreement”) with the placing agent (the
“2025 Placing Agent”) pursuant to which the 2025
Placing Agent conditionally agreed to place as the
Company’s placing agent, on a best effort basis,
the placing shares (the “2025 Placing Shares:”) of
up to 24,956,600 new shares to certain placees
at the placing price (the “2025 Placing Price”)
of HK$0.137 per 2025 Placing Share (the “2025
Placing”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE - =

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b) For the year ended 31 March 2025
(Continued)

(ii)

2025 Placing (Continued)

The 2025 Placing Shares would be allotted

“HF=A=T—BHILFE

27. R (@)

(b)

—ECAFRESE (4

E_AFEERNB

and issued pursuant to the general mandate iE }Jf R-ZZEE_WMF N A
granted to the directors of the Company by the iy i = = S A NN )4
Shareholders at the annual general meeting of the RAFRe FHREXRT

Company held on 23 September 2024.

The 2025 Placing Price of HK$0.137 per 2025
Placing Share represents: (a) a discount of
approximately 20% to the closing price of
HK$0.17 per share as quoted on the Stock

ARBEEZ —REET
AL 3 R BAT »

ZE_RAFREEER =
T hFEEKRMNO0.137
BILTR: (@R _ZE_RHF
e & 155 =% B HA 72 56 X P AT

Exchange on the date of the 2025 Placing WU B = I0A7E T
Agreement; and (b) a discount of approximately EA20%  MO)REE =

18.95% to the average closing price of
HK$0.1678 per share as quoted on the Stock
Exchange in the last five consecutive trading days
immediately prior to the date of the 2025 Placing
Agreement.

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated
31 March 2025, the Board announced that all the
conditions precedent set out in the 2025 Placing
Agreement had been fulfiled and completion of
the 2025 Placing took place on 31 March 2025
in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the 2025 Placing Agreement. An aggregate of
24,956,600 2025 Placing Shares, representing
approximately 16.67% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at 31 March 2025 immediately
after completion, have been successfully placed
to no less than six placees at the 2025 Placing
Price of HK$0.137 per 2025 Placing Share.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b) For the year ended 31 March 2025
(Continued)

AT

(4

(ii)

2025 Placing (Continued)

The net proceeds from the 2025 Placing, after
deduction of all relevant expenses amounted to
approximately HK$3.19 million. The Company
intends that (i) approximately HK$2.00 million
will be used for repayment of loans; and (ii)
approximately HK$1.19 million will be used for
replenishment of working capital and general
business operation.

All the above new shares shall rank pari passu in
all respects with each other in the share capital of
the Company.

Further details of the above are set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 11 March
2025 and 31 March 2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

28. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS
Share option scheme

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 14 August 2018
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors
and eligible employees, and will expire on 13 August 2028.
Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company
may grant options to eligible employees, including directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares
in the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be issued
in respect of which options granted and may be granted to
any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
Options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s
share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must
be approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days of the date
of grant, upon payment of HK$1.00 per option. Options may
be exercised at any time during a period to be determined
and notified by the directors to the grantee thereof, and
in the absence of such determination, from the date of
acceptance of the offer of such option to the earlier of (i)
the date on which such option lapses under the relevant
provisions of the Scheme; and (i) the date falling 10 years
from the offer date of that option. The exercise price is
determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be
less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant, (i) the average closing price
of the shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s share.
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28.

29.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE.BASED
PAYMENTS TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

At 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, no share option had
been granted under the Scheme.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped
at HK$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the
contribution is matched by employees.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the PRC subsidiaries participate in a defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme (the “Scheme”)
organised by the local authority whereby the PRC
subsidiaries are required to make contributions to the
Scheme based on certain percentages of the eligible
employee’s salaries. The local government authority is
responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to the
retired employees.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately
HK$460,000 (2024: HK$492,000) represent contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

AT

(4

29.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30, B RS

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following transactions
with related parties:

() Compensation of key management
personnel

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and

R e MR EME D INEE
S REBEBEB SR MRS ¢

() TEEBAENHE

ARREEREMEREEA

other members of key management during the year ERFAMNRBMIT
was as follows:
2025 2024
—E-REF —E-ME
HK$°000 HK$’'000
F& T AT
Salaries, bonus and other benefits e TEA R EAME R 6,746 7,422
Contribution to retirement benefit RIRE R 2=
schemes 111 184
6,857 7,606

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and
key management is determined by the remuneration
committee of the Company having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

(ii) Personal guarantees
At 31 March 2024, all bank borrowings of the Group
were guaranteed by Mr. Thomas Loy and Mr. Loy

Hak Moon. At 31 March 2025, such guarantees were
released upon the settlement of all bank borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. BB AR S @
(Continued)
(iii) Related party transactions (i) @B R X Z
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated GREGEETBRERZEMIBY
financial statements, the Group entered into the PRI EEN  KEBEHEBFE A
following transactions with related party: HANIIEEE
Name of the
related party Relationship Nature of transactions 2025 2024
ML A8 kS ML —E-HF —T-mE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THET
Cargo Man Logistics Shareholder Interest expenses paid/
Company Limited payable
BRYREBERLA  RE B/ ERFIERX 858 -
The above transactions were carried out at terms Pl x5 Jh iR AN E B R B
determined and agreed between the Group and the BERRE ZIEHRETT -

relevant party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

1. EXREARER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes, other borrowings included in other payables,
lease liabilities and bank and other borrowings disclosed
in notes 22, 24 and 25, respectively, net of cash and
cash equivalent and equity attributable to owners of the
Company. The management of the Group reviews the capital
structure regularly. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of the capital. Based on the recommendations of
the management, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share

AEEEREEANBRAEEEE
B MR R R RERRE
{18 75 B B B F 18 2 B8 R AR SR A
5195 o 74 o [ 1 B B8 56 LB 1 4F I8
— BT -

AEENEALBREESFHE B
hEEM 22 24K25D B ER
EmER GrAEMEMNKRE) A
EAEURRTREMER  NBRR
e RBESEYRARRREE AEN
R AEEEEEBTHRIEAL
BoEALBIMN—HD EBES
AR AN % B R FE B A AN AR R A R
S  AEERBEEREER A BIRNM
BE - BITFREREEREEERTF
ETH R ENERE -

issues and raising and repayment of borrowings.

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEM
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(a) Categories of financial instruments

ENT

2. ¢cEEREEBEERBE

(@ EmIAEH

2025 2024
—ERE —EZF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Financial assets ERBEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REBHEK AT ENERMEE 68,743 58,159
Financial liabilities TRBE
At amortised cost bieg: 10N 34,500 30,697
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

AT

Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables, deposits, amount due
from a related company, pledged bank deposits, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables and
bank and other borrowings. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

(i)  Currency risk

The Group’s operational activities are mainly
denominated in HK$ and USD. The Group
is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
arising from services to customers and services
provided from suppliers denominated in foreign
currencies. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management closely monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

BEERBRARRQA

NR.¢cEAREEEEREE

(b) &REREEEZRK
R

AEENTESHTARRE
ZEWGRIA - At fEW IR - &2
& BRUR—FHBEEQRREA
ERROTER RITEHRLER
T B REMEMNFENLR
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R  EERRERBEERA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT R.crEAREEEFERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ()
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) SREKRERBBTRRK
and policies (Continued) & (@)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued) (i) E®BERE (&)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign AEBE R RS B B RSN
currency denominated monetary assets and BIENESEEREE
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting BEZEEAELT :

period are as follows:

Foreign currency Hhigk Assets Liabilities
BE 2E
2025 2024 2025 2024

“E-HfE —T-QNE ZBE-RE —Z-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FTAL FTHER FEL

usb e 605 6,155 (1,310) (1,639)
RMB AR 18 18 - =
GBP HeE = - (588) (688)
Euro BT 1 1 - -
New Zealand dollar HEET = = = (1)
The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk AEBTEEMHBETNE
of USD (2024: USD). BRERE(ZZTZmF %
TT) °

Under the pegged exchange rate system, the EBMEEXRSE - 88
financial impact arising from changes in exchange K ABTTEETIE RS
rates between HK$ and USD is not expected to EEXENBEELYTE
be significant and therefore, the corresponding KA EREREEN
sensitivity analysis is not prepared. BRE DN °

As the directors of the Company consider that HRARRIEERA Lt
the currency risk in response to the changes in GNBETE RS F TSI N E
exchange rates of the above foreign currencies MERI A~EAN AL
as insignificant, no sensitivity analysis on currency 2T E SR RE
risk is presented. DT o

aa ‘
\
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

AT

(4

(i)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to the fixed-rate pledged
bank deposits, other borrowings included in
other payables and lease liabilities. However,
management considers the fair value interest rate
risk is insignificant.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
risk in relation to the bank balances which
carried at market interest rates and bank and
other borrowings which carried at interest rate
from Prime rate-2.25% to 28% per annum.
However, management of the Group considers
that the impact to profit or loss is insignificant
for a reasonable change in the market rate.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented.

Credit risk

At 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024, the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from
trade receivables, other receivable, deposits,
amount due from a related company, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances. The carrying
amounts of these balances represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to
these financial assets.

NR.¢cEAREEEEREE

(&)

b) tREREEEEZERK
& (@)

(ii)

(iii)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE - =

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (Continued)

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has taken follow-up
action to ensure overdue debts are able to
recover.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure
the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group
determines the ECL on collective basis by using
an internal credit rating, estimated based on
historical credit loss experience, as well as the
general economic conditions of the industry in
which the debtors operate. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

For other receivables, the Group has assessed
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. If there has
been a significant increase in credit risk, the
Group will measure the loss allowance based on
lifetime rather than 12m ECL.

Management considered that other receivables
and deposits to be low credit risk and thus the
allowance for impairment recognised during the
year was limited to 12m ECL.

The credit risk on bank balances and pledged
bank deposits are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE - =

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

AT

(4

(iii)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is in Hong Kong, which
accounted for 100% (31 March 2024: 100%) of
the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2025.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has
tasked its operation management to develop
and maintain the Group’s credit risk grading to
categorise exposures according to their degree
of risk of default. The credit rating information is
supplied by independent rating agencies where
available and, if not available, the operation
management uses other publicly available financial
information and the Group’s own trading records
to rate its major customers and other debtors.
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of
its counterparties are continuously monitored and
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is
spread amongst approved counterparties.

The Group has concentration of credit risk
within the provision of freight forwarding, related
logistics services and trading of fashion items as
22% (2024: 4%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s largest customer and 71%
(2024: 58%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group’s top five largest customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #HZE - =

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

“HF=A=T—BHILFE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

The Group’s internal credit risk grading
assessment comprises the following categories:

2.cmAKREEHR

(&)

(b) ﬁrﬂﬂf‘ﬁ‘ﬁ“ﬂ B ¥

ﬁ(llﬁ)

(iiiy EERMR (&)

£ [ /77 ] g 6 15 B L

AEEAREER

HEBEATER

=N BUR

= N

N\ﬂ’/\&

Internal Trade Other financial
credit rating Description receivables assets
ABEETR Al 2 5 EWHIE HitgREE
Group A The counterparties have a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
based on good historical repayment records not credit impaired not credit impaired
and are mainly multinational companies or
listed companies
Afg RHGHFFERBBARAIKLEMAR BEE 2HEHEEFE - 2HBHEESE-
FEHRT BHRRRE FEERE FEERE
Group B The counterparties have a medium risk of Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
default based on good historical repayment not credit impaired not credit impaired
records and are mainly unlisted entities or
small to medium entities
B XHUFIERFLHERATNEER B 2HEHEERE - 2UEBEEEHE -
TERCHRT  BORBRERE FEERE FEERE
Group C The counterparties usually settle after due Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
dates with a higher risk of default not credit impaired not credit impaired
CH XHEFRTRIBREERENARES PHRBEEEE - Z2HESHEEEE -
FEEHE FEERE
Group D There have been significant increases in credit  Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
risk since initial recognition not credit impaired not credit impaired
D BRBAAR  FERREKEER PHRBEEEE - Z2HESEEEE -
FEEHE FEERE
Group E There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired not credit impaired not credit impaired
EfA RERERAELREENE PHRBEEEE - Z2HESEEEE -
FEEHE FEERE
Group F There is evidence indicating that the debtoris ~ Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
FiE REBEAERAGRENBNE mASE MEFHEE WHEEBTR

BHA AR R E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

AT

(iii)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

NR.¢cEAREEEEREE

(#&)
(b) &REREEERRK

The tables below detail the credit quality of the
Group’s financial assets as well as the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk

rating grades.

R (&)

(i) EERMR (&)
N E B BT [F FE A 15 B R B
(&)

TRENAREBCHEE
FEEEEFHBE UEAEAE
EizEERRIREHH
BEREERR -

External Internal 12-month or Gross carrying
Notes credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL amount
12BAR2HEHEE
W HIBEETR ABEEFR  FA REAE
HK$’000
TET
At 31 March 2025
RZE-_h$¥=A=+—H
Trade receivables 19 N/A Note (i) below Lifetime ECL - not 32,286
credit-impaired
(collective basis)
B 5 EKFE 19  THEA RTXME) 2HEHREEERE-*
EERMAE (XREE)
Other receivables 19 N/A Note (i) below ~ 12m ECL (individually) 21,825
H Y kIR 19 THEA BT B E ) QFH%%E%%E
{51
Deposits 19 N/A Note (i) below  12m ECL (individually) -
e 19  THEA RTXMEi) 12EAEHEERS
(f851)
Rental deposits 19 N/A Note (i) below ~ 12m ECL (individually) 92
HEEZES 19  TER ATxMEN 12EAEREEER
(f&51)
Amount due from a related 20 N/A Note (i) below  12m ECL (individually) -
company
el —RIRE AR TIE 20 EH 5T B E ) Wﬁﬂ%%%%%ﬁ
5l
Pledged bank deposits 21 AA - Note (iii) below  12m ECL (individually) -
BEERRITER 21 AA-R BT St 2 ) mﬁﬂ%%%%%ﬁ
& 5l
Bank balances 21 A-AA- Note (iii) below  12m ECL (individually) 15,511
RITHE 21 AZAAHR RTXME() 12EAEBEESE
(1851)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii)

192 wan Leader International Limited ~ Annual Report 2024 — 2025

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

R (@)

(iiiy EERMR (&)

. ¢cEAREEEEREE
(#&)

(b) TREAREERZRRIK

755 B i [E] fig 49 1= B JRL R

(#&)
External Internal 12-month or Gross carrying
Notes credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL amount
12X HEHREE
M SMBEETR ANGETR BB REAR
HK$'000
TET
At 31 March 2024
RZZEZWE=A=+—H
Trade receivables 19 N/A Note (i) below Lifetime ECL - not 33,309
credit-impaired
(collective basis)
B 5 EWHE 19  TEA RTXMEN) EHBEREEEE-F
EERME(XREE)
Other receivables 19 N/A Note (i) below  12m ECL (individually) 3,700
Hfto e R 8 19  TEA TN  12EAEREEEE
(1E151)
Deposits 19 N/A Note (i) below  12m ECL (individually) 2,000
e 19 TEA AT XM 12EABRHEEEER
(1&51)
Rental deposits 19 N/A Note (i) below  12m ECL (individually) 112
HEERS 19 TEA ST 12 ABHEERE
(1EI51)
Amount due from a related 20 N/A Note (i) below ~ 12m ECL (individually) 1,936
company
Bl —RBEARRE 20  TEA RTXMei) 12EAEREEER
(1&51)
Pledged bank deposits 21 AA. Note (iii) below ~ 12m ECL (individually) 3,017
BEARTER 21 AAMR R XM 12EARHEERE
(f&51)
Bank balances 21 A-AA Note (iii) below  12m ECL (individually) 14,823
RITHEH 21 AZAAHR RTXKEG) 12EABHEESE

(fE3])

\ |



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # & —

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

(iii)

AT

(4

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

Notes:

(i)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines
the expected credit losses on a collective basis,
using internal credit rating as groupings of various
debtors that have similar nature and loss patterns.
The collective assessment is based on the Group’s
historical default rates taking into consideration
default rates by external/internal credit agency (if any)
and forward-looking information and other related
information.

For the purposes of internal credit risk management,
the Group uses past due information to assess
whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition.

For pledged bank deposits and bank balances, the
Group determines the expected credit losses on
individually basis by referring to the external source
credit rate for the relevant financial institutions.

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed based on collective assessment within
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

e BHRME (E)

—hFE=A=1t—HLFE

NR.¢cEAREEEEREE

(48)
m)ﬁﬂﬂﬁmﬂﬁ Z K&
ﬁ (rlﬁ)
(iiiy EE=RKE (E)
N E AT E R A 15 B R SR
(&)
B3t

) HEZEREFERE A
SECERBREYBHRE
ERESRAELAER
BEBEEBENEIRR
B AEEERAANEER
AR(EABERELEER
EREXERRT D
BH)AREERHMEER
B8 - KRFEDERK
SEBEROE  KERE
SMER/ M ERE B AR (10
BIMEBEOETRAEESE
B EEMEREER -

i) HABEERREBEEM
T AREFERBHES
THEVSERUAKE
ERBEEEEEN -

REEFRRITERRE
THSmE - AEBERE
B EE2ZHE S /b
BRINBIRREER X -
ErEBEaES-
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& H SR GEE H A E)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT R.crEAREEEFERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ()
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) EFEREEBEFERK
and policies (Continued) K ()
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) (i) EERMR (&)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) 7K B A E R A 15 B A R
(&)
Notes: (Continued) MaE - (88)

Average Gross Loss
loss rate amount allowance
HK$’000 HK$’000
FAET T

At 31 March 2025 R-E-_RF=A4

=+-n

Group A AfE 1.11% 3,480 39
Group B B%g 1.11% 7,442 83
Group C E2) 1.80% 21,364 385
32,286 507

At 31 March 2024 R-_ZT-_WMFE=A

=+-n

Group A ASE 0.10% 3,745 4
Group B B%a 1.30% 5,137 67
Group C ci 2.60% 24,427 634
33,309 705

WR| ‘ ‘
\
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32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(b) Financial risk management objectives

AT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

and policies (Continued)

(iii)

Credit risk (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

R.coEREEEEREEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) ()

(b) &REREEERRK

R (&)

(iii)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime

ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables

=ERRE (&)

752 B i [E] fig 49 1= B /L R
(%)

BfeE : ()

TRIRRE BT
HEZEBKERRD

under the simplified approach: > HTEEEEERE
Lifetime ECL
Not credit-
impaired
2HEPEEER
FEERE
HK$'000
T
At 1 April 2024 RZZE-_WFEMA—H 396
Impairment loss recognised ERRZAEEE 309

At March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-E-_WNE=AK

—E-WFEMA—H 705
Reversal of impairment loss recognised B R ZBEEERR (198)
At 31 March 2025 R-ZZE-_AF=A=+—AH 507

As at 31 March 2025, credit risk for deposits, other
receivables and amount due from a related company

are assessed individually within 12m ECL at stage

1. The average loss rates applied to determine the
loss allowance for them are 2.25% (2024: 0.1% to
1.86%) respectively. During the year ended 31 March

2025, impairment loss of approximately HK$462,000

(2024: reversal of impairment loss of HK$5,000) is

recognised in profit or loss.

BEERBRARRQA

R_E-_RF=ZfF=+—
H ke HEKKIE
Ko e W — [ & & R R IR
215 B BB 1 B A1 21E
AHEHEEBEE —BER
RNHETRT S - EILE TS
BREMEFHBEEXS
R 52.25% (ZF P4 :
0.1%%F1.86%) - REE
—E-_AF=A=+—
HIEFE BREEBELD
462,000 7t (ZF =M
F - {8 K5 18 % 25,000
BIL) ERBERF R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(iii)

. ¢cEAREEEEREE

(%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) EFEREEBEFERK
and policies (Continued) C4E |
Credit risk (Continued) (i) EERMR (&)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) 7K B A E R A 15 B A R
(&)
Notes: (Continued) MaE - (88)
The following table shows the movement in 12m TREBR2EATERE
ECL that has been recognised for deposits, other EEEDPDHERZIES
receivables and amount due from a related company. H b U sk 18 K fE W —
B & A B A 8 2 B
&5 o
Amount due Deposits,
from a related and other
company receivables Total
Ew—E ReERHEAM
BEQTNRE W RE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T FHET T
At 1 April 2024 P i =S
mA—H 39 3 42
Reversal of impairment loss ERRREEEREE
recognised (4) (1) (5)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 WZ_Z_WNF=H
=t+t—BRZZE=N
FHA—H 35 2 37
Provision for impairment loss BRI EHEEE
recognised - 462 462
Disposal of subsidiary HEH B R A (35) = (35)
At 31 March 2025 R-TBE-_hF=A
=+—H - 464 464

No change in valuation technique and assumption

for measurement of expected credit loss in trade and

other receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

AT

(4

(iv)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with
loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.

NR.¢cEAREEEEREE

(&)

b) tREREEEEZERK
& (@)

(iv)

BEERBRARRQA

RBE AR

REERPE S EARE
AEBERBERREF
EBYHOKFE LTHFHEE
BEERREMEOKF A
BXAEENEERS -
WRIERESRERBOF
Z EREERRITER
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BREY -
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BMABNHRTAENOIHE
Mo ZRIDRBAREE A
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H ReMBEENRMA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 2. cpEAKEEREREEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) ()
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) EFEREEBEFERK
and policies (Continued) K (|
(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued) (iv) REBESER (E)
The table includes both interest and principal ZENBEMNBEREASHE
cash flows. EME °

More than  More than

On demand 1 year 2 years Total
or within But less But less Undiscounted  Carrying
1year than2years than5years cash flows amount

REXH BB-F  REMF ARRRS
—ER  BIRWME EIREF  REHE BEE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK§'000
TAL TAL TAT TAT TAT

At 31 March 2025 R-EZE%
=ZA=t-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ /742 & & &
Trade payables ESENTE 2,413 = = 2,413 2,413
Other payables EfEAHIE 2,988 - - 2,988 2,988
Bank and other borrowings BIREMER 10,069 - = 10,069 9,099
35,470 - - 35,470 34,500
Lease liabilties HEER 193 81 - 274 218
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME
=R=t-H
Non-derivative financial liabilities 774 2 # B &
Trade payables BHEMANA 21,409 - - 21,409 21,409
Other payables EAfER TR 8,532 = - 8,532 8,532
Bank and other borrowings FATREAMET 519 259 - 778 756
30,460 259 - 30,719 30,697
Lease liabilities HERRE 513 285 78 876 839

A Y
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

32. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

33.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c) Fair values of financial instruments

e BB RME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

NR.¢cEAREEEEREE

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate to their fair values

due to their short-term maturities.

(1)
(c) EMTENAFE

ARBEERR AREBERED
B RAMBERRNREH
KALENEREENSREA
EMREEEEQAFERS -

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES B.AMETHELENEGEHEK
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRHEMNEBAEEREETHELEN
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non. BEEH pHEIAESKIFRESEDH -
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are e ETHESANEREBRREREY
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be KR AKRRERESEEARERE
classified in the consolidated statement of cash flow as cash XANDEABE LTSRS TENAE -
flows from financing activities.
Finance
Beginning  Financing costs Disposal of  Exchange End of
of the year cash flows  incurred  Additions  subsidies difference the year
BEM
FY MERERE REAL HE LEMELR EXZE EX
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL TAL TAL TAT TEL
At 31 March 2025 i s
=t-8
Lease liabilities HEAE 839 (975) 52 302 - - 218
Other borrowings (included  E fth &35 (3t A E At
in other payables) ERTE) 2,910 (86) - - (2,791) (33) -
Bank and other borrowings  $%17 R B ft fE 5% 756 7,082 1,311 - - - 9,099
4,505 5,971 1,363 302 (2,791) (33) 9,317
At 31 March 2024 RZZEZNEZA
=t-8
Lease liabilities HERE 1,499 (720) 60 = = - 839
Other borrowings (included  E fth &35 (5t A\ E At
in other payables) FEfI5R) - 2,898 41 = = (29) 2,910
Bank borrowings RITER 1,670 (914) = - - - 756
3,169 1,264 101 - - (29) 4,505
A™
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 4. HEHE QA
Bz T _RAF=A=+—8B1t%
B ARREBYFE=ZHFYEE W
FOUHEERART2ENB AR
Jiyueke Holdings Limited ([Jiyueke])
MEElE BRER2BTL AR
AR FERNIEEL TS -

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company entered
into sale and purchase agreements with independent third
parties to dispose of its 100% equity interest in Jiyueke
Holdings Limited (“Jiyueke”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company at a total consideration of HK$2. The Company
was inactive during the year.

The net liabilities of Jiyueke and its subsidiary (collectively,
the “Jiyueke Group”) at the date of disposal were as follows:

Jiyueke & E [t BB 2 7] (4178 [ Jiyueke
EE)ARLEBHNEEFEET

HK$’000
FET
Consideration received: 2R E :
Cash consideration ReRE =
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which RERFEZEEREBI N :
control was lost:
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB MR 264
Deferred tax assets EIETIEE E 9
Trade and other receivables, deposits and BoLEMEIIIE 1SR
prepayments B FRIE 3,792
Amount due from a related company JE Uk — Rl B & A R RRIE 2,183
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 10
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk EH b A FIE (6,798)
Tax payable FE S FiIE (1,232)
Net liabilities disposed of EHEBEFE (1,772)
Gain on disposal of Jiyueke Group H EJiyueke E B HY W
Consideration received BURE =
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEREFHE 1,772
Statutory reserve 5 TE 1 357
Reclassification of cumulative translation reserve ENOERHRERE (250)
Gain on disposal k=l ey 1,879
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZHSREFE:
Cash consideration received BB ERE =

Less: Cash and cash equivalents disposed of

BWEHEZRHERREFEYD

* The amount was less than HK$1,000.

Jiyueke did not generated significant cash inflows or outflows
for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HBItFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 35. & A T 0 Bt F& 4R 50 & & £
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 1%

Lo o

2025 2024
—E-RE —E_MF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TABIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTB A RIRE -* 18,107
Property, plant and equipment M BE REE 249 1,493
Amount due from a subsidiary JE U — FEI B B8 A RIS TE
(note (i) below) (R T XXM EE()) 13,046 13,013
Rental Deposits HEZS 85 -
Deferred tax assets BIETRIEEE = 45
13,380 32,658
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables, deposits B 5 & H b e W sIE
and prepayments e RENKIE 26,356 29,329
Amount due from a related company JiE Uy — fisl B8 3~ B 508
(note (ii) below) (R 3B EE (i) 383 579
Inventories FE = 432
Bank balances and cash RITEBRLIES 3,768 242
30,507 30,582
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 N H M AT 5RIE 1,656 2,297
Other borrowings E b g 9,099 -
Amount due to a director B —2EEHE 119 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 152 =
Provisions B = 97
11,026 2,394
Net current assets REBEEFE 19,481 28,188
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBARE 32,861 60,846
Non-current liabilities kARBEE
Lease liabilities HERE 66 -
Provisions B 224 100
290 100
Net assets EEZFE 32,571 60,746
Capital and reserves BEXRFEE
Share capital s 7 14,974 12,478
Reserves 1 17,597 48,268
Equity attributable to equity holders ANAEREEAELGESR
of the Company 32,571 60,746
r The amount was less than HK$1,000. SRHEIORABE—FTeo
[\ N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 35. & A T 1 B #& 4R 50 & & £
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY %m0

(Continued)
Notes: B3t -

(i) The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and no fixed (i) BRFEAEER THEREERT

terms of repayment. BIEREH o
(i) The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable (i) BERBEAEER THERARE
on demand. KEE -
The movements of the Company’s shareholders’ equity are RNATIREEZZESEEWMT -
as following:
Share Share Other Accumulated
capital premium reserve losses Total
A& A3 R E Hit &t B2 ER @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET TET TAT FTET FTET
(Note)
(F&E)
As at 31 March 2023 —T-=%F=AH
_Jr H 9,900 75,252 39,048 (75,334) 48,866
Loss and other comprehensive ERERBREMEE
expense for the year 53 = - - (9,864) (9,864)
Proceeds from placing of new  ECE ¥ BT 3B
shares 2,578 19,934 - - 22,512
Issuing expenses of placing FREHMRD 2 BTRY
of new shares - (768) - - (768)
At 31 March 2024 and R-_ZE-ME=A
1 April 2024 =+t-HER-Z-Mm
FWA—H 12,478 94,418 39,048 (85,198 60,746
Loss and other comprehensive  FREE R H
expense for the year 2EEY = = = (31,366) (31,366)
Proceeds from placing of RERRHAMBRE
new shares 2,496 923 - - 3,419
Issuing expenses of placing RERRH 2ETRY
of new shares - (228) - - (228)
At 31 March 2025 R-Z-A%=H
Er=E 14,974 95,113 39,048 (116,564) 32,571
Note: The other reserve represents the allotment of shares of the e : B EREATFERETREHR

Company in acquiring the entire issued shares of Ever Metro to

strategic investments in prior years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

e BHRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 20256 HE-—ZE-—_AF=A=1+—HIL&FE

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 36.

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

Details of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024 are set out below.

AEBMEENB QT ZF
(]

RZE-_RAF=A=+—Bk=%
—WE=A=+—H' ' T ENBAQA
ZEEBEESIAT o

Percentage of effective
Place of Issued and fully/ equity interest/voting
incorporation/ Class of Paid up share power attributable
Name of subsidiary Form of business  operation shares capital to the Company Principal activity
iR/ EEGRE | ARRER
HEAREE E3 37 EERY RHER BE/8RRE  BNRE/RZEZESL IEER
2025 2024
IBCREE CZCRE
% %
Directly held by the Company
ARAEERE
Ever Metro International Limited Incorporated BvI Ordinary USD181,781 100 100  Investment holding and
management services
Ever Metro International Limited gafruhns  RERREE  LER 181,781%7 REERREERE
Indirectly held by the Company
ERAGERE
Union Air Cargo Limited Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,280,000 100 100 Freight forwarding and related
logistics services
TERERRAT BAMRIHRA  ER TRk 3,280,000/ 1T REREREBNRRE
Orient Zen Logistics Services Limited Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary HK$19,160,000 100 100 Freight forwarding and related
logistics services
REMTERAA BAMRIHRA  FR il 19,160,000 T EERBRERNRRY
Kongda Logistics Company Limited Incorporated HongKong ~ Ordinary HK$1,160,000 100 100 Freight forwarding and related
logistics services
BENRERAT BAMRIHRA  FR Lk 1,160,000% T BERBRERNRRY
Protect Logistics Gompany Limited Incorporated HongKong ~ Ordinary HK$1,515,000 100 100 Freight forwarding and related
logistics services
RENRERAT BAMRIHRE  FR LEk 151500087 REREREBNRRE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which,
principally affected the result or assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities

during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024
and at the end of reporting periods.

AT

ERINTIEAEEXEXEEREAN
FENAKENBLR - ARFES
R RUEGHBRRANFERE
BERBRITE -

BENEAARHEE =A% =f
=t-AR=F-mMF=A=1—A
IE R R 4 R B (T T 8B
25 o

b codlle EmEEBRERAT —O—m——o-—fasn 203



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A MR AR MY R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2025 HE_-_Z -_AF=A=+—HItFE

37. RECLASSIFICATION AND
COMPARATIVE FIGURES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, for enhancing the
relevance on the presentation of the consolidated financial
statements, certain reclassifications have been made to
the comparative figures presented in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of the prior year to achieve
comparability with the current year’s presentation. As a
result, the following line items regarding comparative figures
have been amended and adjusted, together with the related

7. EF P ERERETF

BE_ZT_AF=-A=1+T—HBHL#F
B - RingiRe M Hmik 25 HEE
- ERBEFEEEMBERERES
MEBRBFELETEN DR AE
BERFRE2I WAL - Bt - T
FIE BB B FH IR B RAR R M T
ETEITRAE  UNEERFENE
51755

notes to conform to the current year’s presentation:

Previous After
reported reclassification
BEER EfSER
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FBT FET
Other income H e A 462 -
Other gains and losses Hofth Yo 25 2 5 98 (84) -
Other income, gains and losses, net Hiplg A - Yoz kBB FRE = 378
Impairment losses recognised under ERRENEEEEREAETHE
expected credit loss model on trade SRWFIARERE R R
receivables, net (309) -
Reversal of impairment losses recognised BHEEEEEXETHREE R
under expected credit loss model on H i B U TR TE A K B U —
deposits and other receivables, and WERRFIERR N EER
amount due from a related company, net BEFRE 5 -
Impairment losses under expected credit BHREEFEEABTRES
loss model, net of reversal 1B Mk D = (304)
Other reserves H 109,714 -
Accumulated losses 2 EE (63,507) -
Reserves A = 46,207
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A Summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
Group’s audited consolidated financial statements issued by the

Company are set out below.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFEHBEHE

AEEBEREMRFENRBAREE
MAEHE (BEBARATEZAEH
REZEAMBRR)HIWT -

RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 March
REBZE=A=+-BLEE
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
—E-—F - —EZ=F —TZNF —E-RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET THBT BT TAR
Revenue e 332,804 674,040 206,936 187,193 157,584
(Loss)/profit before taxation K& AT (F518) /% Fl 923 12,271 (25,919 (24,751) (25,132)
Income tax credit/(expense)  FTiEHEE,/ (Fx) (436) (3,042) (852) 80 (81)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER) EH 4,180 9,229 (26,771) (24,671) (25,213)
Attributable to: T AL RS
Owners of the Company ARAEEA 4,849 9,238 (26,771) (24,671) (25,213)
Non-controlling interests FERER (669) (9) - - -
4,180 9,229 (26,771) (24,671) (25,213)
HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents HK cents
el ol gl gl Bl
(Restated)*
(lBE5)"
Basic (loss)/earnings per share 1 EK L ¥ % 7 Tk
from continuing operations  E A& (&1#8) /&7 0.58 1.10 (2.85) (21.6) (20.2)

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of @

basic and dilutes loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2025 and
31 March 2024 have been adjusted for the issuance of new shares for
both years and also the share consolidation during the year ended 31
March 2025 and details of which are set out in note 27.

AT

RBE_ZT-_RAFE=-A=+—HBER=-Z_-N
FZA=Z+-BLGFEFEIREARES
BEME  TRARNEFHHEERMEFE
BUHFREBE-_T-_AF=ZA=1+—AH

L FENRD A FHEHRE

27 °

EBERRERAR

B 9NN

—ozm-—=-—o=—mEER 205



Five Year Financial Summary (Continued)

EEMBHME (&)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EERAER

At 31 March

R=A=t+-8
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
—E-—F —E-C —E-=% —E-NE —E_TE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FAET BT TAR
Total assets BEERE 113,786 134,825 83,390 91,911 71,960
Total liabilties BERE (61,750) (73,460) (21,676) (33,226) (35,384)
Net assets BEFS 52,036 61,365 61,714 58,685 36,576

Note: The Group adopted HKFRS 16 with effect from 1 April 2019, and

has changed its accounting policies in relation to lessee accounting.

Comparative information in years earlier than 2019 is not restated and in

accordance with the policies applicable in those years.

206 Wan Leader International Limited Annual Report 2024 — 2025

ik AEER_ZT-NFOA-RERKETEY

BHEEERF16% - WEFRAAMAEA
EHBBNEHEE - —E—AFZNER
LA RES - KDREE BT EE

BB G -

LU ===

m"



Annual Report
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Articles or Articles of Association

AR AR TR AR A

Audit Committee

EZZES

Board
BEFg

Board Diversity Policy
EESLZTLBGR

Company

EN/NS]

Company Secretary
ARWE

CG Code

EEEATH

COVID-19
COVID-19

Director(s)

5=

ESG

RE e kEn

GEM Listing Rules

GEM + 1 47 8]

Group
REE

HK
B

AT

GLOSSARY

annual report for the financial year ended 31 March 2025

BE T _RF="A=1t-HILMBRFEZFR

articles of association of the Company

RABABEREAR

audit committee of the Company

RRRBEZEESR

the board of directors of the Company

KRRIERE

board diversity policy of the Company

ARBEFELTTILHK

Wan Leader International Limited

EREBERBERAA

company secretary of the Company

KRB RRIWE

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM

Listing Rules

GEM _E 7 43 Al B $:C1 P&k 2 12 R B VA <F A

2019 Novel Coronavirus

2019F A EAMR RS

directors of the Company

RRRER

Environmental, Social and Governance

RE -H@8hER

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

BB AR FHMERAFGEME 7 L 5 Bl

Company and its subsidiaries

ENNCTDS B )N

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

REE B AIITHRE

EBERRERAR
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Glossary (Continued)

AR (&)

Listing Date
FHHS

Nomination Committee

RE2ZEE

NTD
ek

PRC or China
A EY

Prospectus
BRER

Remuneration Committee

FMEES

RMB
AR

SFO
&7 R S R

Share Offer
f&h & &

Share Option Scheme
BB R RSt &

Stock Exchange
B4t 32 By

Year

REE

HK$ or HKD
BT

US$ or USD
e

%
%
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5 September 2018
—E-NFNARAB

nomination committee of the Company

ARAEHERES

New Taiwan dollar
e

People’s Republic of China
R A R E

Prospectus of the Company dated 28 August 2018
ARARHBAZZE—N\FNAZT+TNBZRBRER

remuneration committee of the Company

ARRIFMEES

Renminbi
AR

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)
B LB R (BEEFIFETE)

the Public Offer and the Placing as defined in the Prospectus
BRERAMATHAREE RS

share option scheme adopted by the Company on 14 August 2018
AARRZZE—NFN\A B R 28Rk ETE

the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMERGMAER R

financial year ended 31 March 2025
HEZZT-_RAF=-A=+—HLVBFE

Hong Kong dollar
BT

United States dollar
ETT

per cent
Btk
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